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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning.

          3  My name is Una Clarke, and I am the Chair for the

          4  Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental Retardation,

          5  Developmental Disabilities and Substance Abuse

          6  Services.  I am pleased to come this morning, in

          7  spite of and despite of having the flu, because

          8  today's hearing, I think is a very important one for

          9  us.

         10                 Today, the Subcommittee will

         11  investigate the supervision of mentally ill people

         12  in our City, Outpatient System.  The tragic death of

         13  Kendra Webdale, who was allegedly pushed to her

         14  death by Andrew Goldstein, a man, who according to

         15  the media reports, was under outpatient treatment

         16  for schizophrenia.

         17                 Focus intents interest of the plight

         18  of our City's mentally ill outpatient population.

         19  Today we are asking patients, advocates, providers,

         20  to testify regarding how we can prevent future

         21  tragedies from occurring.

         22                 In order to do this, I believe, we

         23  must assess the performance of the overall system.

         24  Experience demonstrates that the general public and

         25  the mentally ill are best served by an outpatient
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          2  system that through a proper continuum of care

          3  tailors its treatment options to particular needs of

          4  individual patients.  Additionally, a well

          5  functioning system must be necessary physical and

          6  monetary resources needed to ensure the proper care

          7  is actually delivered to people in need.

          8                 Therefore, we look forward to

          9  receiving testimony, in both detail manner in which

         10  the system presently functions and also presents

         11  suggestions for how the system can be reformed.

         12  More than two weeks ago, when this unfortunate

         13  incident occurred, I personally asked, Commissioner

         14  Cohen, the Commissioner of the Department of Mental

         15  Health that we would get together for today's

         16  hearing in order that together we can take a look at

         17  the system to prepare and to figure out where the

         18  gaps in services are, and to be able to work

         19  together to make sure that the State of New York

         20  adequately addresses the needs of all of the

         21  outpatient clinics and facilities, and to make sure

         22  that there is adequate services in our communities.

         23                 I was notified late last night that

         24  the Commissioner would not be here today, but that

         25  instead he would send staff.  I regret that he has

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  done that.  I am sure that the staff members that he

          3  sent are competent in their own field and what they

          4  do, I think that the only person that sets the

          5  policy has to be the Commissioner, and therefore, I

          6  will not hear from the Administration today, I will,

          7  instead, hear from the many witnesses who have come,

          8  and if the Administration wishes to hear what the

          9  general population has to say, they may remain, but

         10  I will look for testimony and I will look for a

         11  coherent message as to how the City Council and the

         12  Administration can work with the State to deliver

         13  the kind of services that every, every patient in

         14  the City of New York that is assigned to an

         15  outpatient clinic may receive those services in a

         16  properly supervised manner.

         17                 I'm just saying all of the witnesses

         18  who are here to testify, may come and testify and

         19  hope that no witness who wants to testify will

         20  leave.  The only persons that I will not hear today

         21  is staff member from Department of Mental Health who

         22  does not have the overall responsibility of

         23  implementing and of setting the policy for Mental

         24  Health.

         25                 May I introduce the staff that are
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          2  assigned to Mental Health.

          3                 MR. SMITH:  Good morning.  My name is

          4  Carl Smith. I am Counsel to the Subcommittee on

          5  Mental Health.  There are a number of issues that

          6  we're looking to cover today.  It is unfortunate

          7  that the Commissioners are not in attendance.  I

          8  think that the hearing would be a lot more fruitful

          9  and rewarding if we had the top people involved with

         10  the hearing.  Nevertheless, we are going to

         11  continue.  You good people have taken your time away

         12  from your jobs to come out and meet with us today,

         13  and we're going to have a full hearing anyway.  So

         14  thanks for coming, and we hope to accomplish much

         15  with this hearing.  Thank you.

         16                 MR. STEIN:  Thank you.  I am Perry

         17  Stein, and I'm the Policy Analyst to the

         18  Subcommittee.

         19                 MR. MARQUBELA:  Yohance Marqubela,

         20  Financial Analyst to the Subcommittee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Our first, is

         22  Ray Bressure (phonetic) from the Urban Justice

         23  Center present?

         24                 MS. BATKIN:  Hi, my name is Susan

         25  Batkin, and I work with the Mental Health Project of
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          2  the Urban Justice Center.  I just want to say that I

          3  appreciate the opportunity to speak today, and would

          4  like to thank Una Clarke for her ongoing support for

          5  the Mental Health Community.

          6                 How many times do we need to hear the

          7  astounding statistics about the 12,000 homeless,

          8  mentally ill people cycling through the revolving

          9  door of homelessness and institutionalization?  And

         10  how many more studies do we need to prove that

         11  supportive housing reduces hospitalizations and

         12  maintains stability?  How many Andrew Goldstein

         13  tragedies do we need to remind us that supportive

         14  housing is a necessary component in helping

         15  isolated, mentally ill individuals maintain their

         16  connection to services and their stability in the

         17  community?

         18                 The state of affairs, as they exist

         19  right now, is appalling.  Housing applications flood

         20  the HRA office.  There is fierce competition for

         21  each and every bed that is currently available in

         22  the system.  For those who manage to compete, the

         23  waiting list can be up to a year.

         24                 With the housing supply terribly

         25  limited and the demand so great, we have a simple
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          2  capitalist style supply and demand phenomenon taking

          3  place in our mental health housing.  It's a sellers

          4  market out there, so it doesn't look real good for

          5  the consumers.

          6                 As a social worker and advocate, my

          7  job is to ensure the continuity of care for

          8  individuals being discharged from psychiatric units

          9  into the community.  My goal is to help hospitals

         10  comply with their discharge planning obligations by

         11  preventing hospital dumping to the shelter system

         12  and accessing housing directly from the inpatient

         13  unit.  In doing my job, each day I am faced with an

         14  ironic yet typical set of seller's market problems,

         15  the more at risk and individual is, the more

         16  problems he has, the more supports he needs to

         17  maintain his stability in the community, the less

         18  likely he is to get into the system.

         19                 Let's look at some concrete examples.

         20    Joseph, who is currently awaiting housing

         21  placement in Hillside Hospital has been hospitalized

         22  seven times within the last two years.  His most

         23  recent hospitalization was precipitated by a suicide

         24  attempt, in which he jumped out of the fifth floor

         25  window of his grandmother's apartment.  Each and
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          2  every application that we have sent to providers has

          3  been met with the same response, "We don't have the

          4  resources to provide the kind of supervision that

          5  Joseph needs." In other words, there are so many

          6  other candidates and all more desirable than Joseph.

          7    So what is to become of Joseph if he doesn't get

          8  into the system?  Will he become another front page

          9  story?

         10                 Then there is Dan, who has been

         11  waiting four months at Harlem Hospital for a housing

         12  placement to the tune of $1,000 a day.  Dan knows

         13  that he has a substance abuse problem and wants a

         14  housing program that will help him deal with it.

         15  The glitch is that Dan also happens to have

         16  diabetes.  Without staff monitoring, his blood sugar

         17  can reach dangerously high levels.  Each response to

         18  the applications,  once again, is, "We don't have

         19  the resources or the staff to provide he kind of

         20  medical supervision that Dan needs."  So what will

         21  become of Dan, will he receive treatment for his

         22  substance abuse or his mental illness or his

         23  diabetes, or will he return back to the shelter he

         24  came from and go into diabetic shock?

         25                 Then there is Susan, whose voices
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          2  told her to set a fire in the garbage can of her

          3  rooming house before she was hospitalized.  Again,

          4  each application that was sent on her behalf was not

          5  surprisingly met with rejection, so the hospital

          6  discharge her to the street, where she attempted

          7  suicide and ended up back in the hospital again.

          8                 Joseph, Dan and Susan are just a few

          9  examples of people with serious mental illness who

         10  can succeed in our communities, but who need a great

         11  deal of support to do so.  These individuals end up

         12  on Riker's Island, under a bridge, wandering the

         13  subway platforms, in the shelter system or

         14  committing suicide.  And as they fall deeper, with

         15  the current state of housing as is it, they can kiss

         16  residential placement goodbye.  These tragic and

         17  ironic truths that we all face is this, those

         18  individuals with real supervisory needs cannot get

         19  the help they need unless the City and the State

         20  make a real commitment to create 10,000 units of

         21  supportive housing.

         22                 The topic of today's hearing is

         23  monitoring outpatient compliance.  So for many, this

         24  idea is terribly premature.  You cannot begin to

         25  monitor compliance with outpatient services until
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          2  you link homeless consumers to services.  And you

          3  cannot make these critical linkages until you have

          4  the services to link them to.  Once we get more

          5  housing for those homeless individuals who are most

          6  at risk, then we can sit down and talk about the

          7  best way to engage consumers in their own recovery.

          8                 New York City has shown tremendous

          9  support for a second New York/New York Agreement,

         10  and we are all very grateful for that, but perhaps

         11  we need to push the envelope a bit.  Thus, we ask

         12  the City Council to commit New York City to its part

         13  of the multi- year agreement to create 10,000 units

         14  of supportive housing. By doing this, the City

         15  Council and the Mayor will throw down the gauntlet,

         16  and require the Governor to respond in kind,

         17  committing the State to its share of a humane and

         18  cost- effective New York/New York Program.  We, as

         19  advocates, will do everything in our power to

         20  organize and mobilize the community to keep the

         21  pressure on the Governor.  We hope that you will

         22  work with us to do everything in your power to come

         23  up with the funds for a multi- agreement.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  Would you just sit for a minute?  Based on

          3  your experience and based on your testimony, can you

          4  indicate for us what you see to be the one, two, or

          5  three things that we may do immediately that would

          6  start moving us to the direction in which we need to

          7  go, especially when we recognize that there are so

          8  many persons who are mentally ill, one in the

          9  homeless system, secondly, in the jail system, for

         10  whom there are no consistent services, how if we put

         11  a network of services so that no one falls through

         12  the crack, how that would occur?

         13                 Ms. BATKIN:  Well the first thing I

         14  would say is discharge planning, discharge planning,

         15  discharge planning.  From Riker's Island, I

         16  understand that people are just mentally ill people

         17  who have been receiving treatment services in

         18  Riker's Island for mental illness are discharged by

         19  being bused to Queens Plaza and given several tokens

         20  and left to their own to figure out what their

         21  mental health treatment is going to be, left to

         22  their own to figure out how to navigate Medicaid,

         23  Welfare, Social Security. It's an equation for

         24  disaster and it's going to end up with an increased

         25  revolving door situation.  So I would say, you know,
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          2  that the City could help implement some kind of

          3  discharge planning for mentally ill people in the

          4  criminal justice system.

          5                 Of course, our main focus is

          6  discharge planning in psychiatric hospitals, and we

          7  recognize how difficult it is for discharge planners

          8  to do their jobs, but at the same time there is

          9  always a bottom line that hospitals are going for.

         10  And I guess what I said in my testimony is that we

         11  would like the City Council to support a multi- year

         12  agreement for New York/New York Housing so that

         13  discharge planners can do their jobs.  I mean,

         14  discharge planners cannot do discharge planning if

         15  they don't have the resources and the services to do

         16  it.

         17                 Another issue that I didn't bring up

         18  in my testimony is Medicaid.  When people lose their

         19  Medicaid on the inpatient unit, they get discharged

         20  and they inevitably get discharged without Medicaid.

         21    So they're out there needing to navigate the

         22  system trying to get medication, trying to get

         23  services without Medicaid.  One of the things that

         24  we support is presumptive eligibility for people who

         25  are likely to be eligible for Medicaid, making them
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          2  eligible the day they get out of the hospital.    These

          3  are just a few of the things that I think the City

          4  Council can support.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          6  much.  Our next witness is Phil Saperia from The

          7  Coalition.

          8                 MR. SAPERIA:  Councilwoman Clarke,

          9  good morning.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning.

         11                 MR. SAPERIA:  Thank you very much for

         12  inviting us to testify on this extremely critical

         13  subject.  I am Phillip Saperia. We're not on?

         14  Testing one, two, three.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes.

         16                 MR. SAPERIA:  Thank you, again, for

         17  having us.  I am Phillip Saperia, Executive Director

         18  of the Coalition of Voluntary Mental Health

         19  Agencies.  We're excited that you had these hearings

         20  today because it affords us the opportunity to

         21  testify about what the community mental health care

         22  system needs to provide adequate care to people with

         23  mental illness.

         24                 The events of the last two weeks have

         25  been disturbing for us all, and I speak for the
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          2  Coalition members when I say that we're greatly

          3  saddened by the tragedy that befell Kendra Webdale.

          4  Her death was a senseless end to a life of great

          5  potential, our hearts go out to her family and her

          6  loved ones.  In the furor over this tragedy, we must

          7  be extremely cautious about the conclusions that we

          8  draw.  Headlines like Horror on the Tracks, or The

          9  Face of a Madman, and quacks must have seen this

         10  runaway train are inflammatory and hurtful.  They

         11  provide no insight, add only to the stigma against

         12  mental illness, wiser heads must prevail.  Kendra

         13  Webdale was a victim of a random and tragic act,

         14  yet, we must also recognize that Andrew Goldstein is

         15  a victim of a debilitating disease and a system that

         16  failed to provide him with the care that he so

         17  desperately needs.

         18                 New York State began its program of

         19  deinstitutionalization because of advocates and

         20  policy makers, like yourself, who recognize that

         21  people with mental illnesses deserve better than to

         22  languish in huge and impersonal hospitals.

         23  Deinstitutionalization in addition to its fiscal

         24  savings was accompanied by an implied, but still,

         25  unfulfilled promise that discharged clients from
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          2  psychiatric hospitals would be taken care of when

          3  they returned to their communities.  New York State

          4  has failed to provide the comprehensive continuum of

          5  care in communities that these clients require.  For

          6  Andrew Goldstein it seems we traded huge state

          7  hospitals for an 8 X 10 basement room  along with

          8  alternating hospital readmission and outpatient

          9  clinic treatment.  Andrew is not blameless in this

         10  tragedy, but neither is the State of New York.

         11                 This was not, as someone suggested,

         12  an axle random as to be unavoidable.  While we

         13  cannot prevent every tragedy, we know how to guard

         14  against catastrophes like this, and we know that

         15  integrative, assertive, coordinated, community-

         16  based treatment works.  We know that discharging

         17  someone from a hospital without a discharge plan to

         18  a lonely, empty, basement apartment with little

         19  professional support, on- site services or crisis

         20  intervention does not work.  We know that newer

         21  drugs to treat schizophrenia, albeit more expensive

         22  in the short run, have fewer side effects that

         23  discourage people from complying with their

         24  medication than the older ones like the Haldol that

         25  Andrew Goldstein was taking.
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          2                 A group of doctors and scientists

          3  recently concluded a study that demonstrates very

          4  clearly the way things can work. The study, The New

          5  York City Involuntary Outpatient Commitment Pilot

          6  Program, had many controversial and unclear

          7  outcomes, but the clear outcomes of that finding

          8  were that the coordination of services and

          9  resources, and the mobilization of professional

         10  resources make substantive difference in both the

         11  experimental and the controlled groups.  Clients got

         12  the support and backup services that we need, that

         13  we think they need for successful treatment in the

         14  community.  The wrap- a- round support they obtained

         15  in the study reduced the number of hospitalizations,

         16  kept clients in treatment, and helped them stay on

         17  the right side of the law.

         18                 Not only is it more humane to provide

         19  community services to people with mental illnesses,

         20  it's less expensive as you know.  It cost $10,000 a

         21  year to keep someone in supportive housing, a

         22  supervised community residence with crisis

         23  intervention capabilities cost $33,000 a year.

         24  Compare this with $113,000 per person per year on an

         25  inpatient ward.  And sometimes unsupervised people
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          2  will end up in jail for misdemeanors, how costly.

          3  It cost $63,725 a year to keep somebody in a City

          4  jail, and even if you add in treatment, it's almost

          5  $70,000.  Beyond the dollars and cents, the huge

          6  down side costs in lost productivity and lost lives

          7  are uncountable and immense.

          8                 Another way in which our system

          9  discourages success is the Medicaid requirement that

         10  people use the least expensive drugs until they

         11  prove to be ineffective.  The older medications,

         12  like Haldol and Thorazine, although inexpensive and

         13  effective in treating symptoms of schizophrenia,

         14  have numerous and very serious contraindications.

         15  These side effects, like loss of muscle control,

         16  involuntary twitching, nausea, dizziness, and sexual

         17  dysfunction, discourage people from taking their

         18  medications.

         19                 Newer drugs called atypical

         20  antipsychotics have been developed that work roughly

         21  in three- quarters of the clients who try them.

         22  These newer drugs, like Respirdone, Olanzapine,

         23  Seroquel, to name just a few, don't cause the severe

         24  side effects that are associated with the older

         25  medications, but they are more expensive up front,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            20

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  so there is a lack of willingness on the part of the

          3  public health care system to pay for them until the

          4  cheaper medications prove to be ineffective.  For

          5  patients who may not always see clearly the benefits

          6  of the drugs they have been prescribed, the side

          7  effects create, sometimes, an insurmountable barrier

          8  to compliance with the medication.

          9                 I appeal to you today to address

         10  these problems. The community mental health system

         11  that we rely on to help people with serious mental

         12  illness is grossly under funded.  There are not

         13  enough residential beds, day treatment slots, club

         14  houses, ACT teams, supportive case managers,

         15  intensive case managers, or peer counselors.  The

         16  programs in place run on shoestring budgets and do

         17  not receive regular cost of living adjustments.

         18                 And even as we are having this

         19  hearing, the State is reneging on its promise to

         20  fund New York/New York II that would provide the

         21  supportive housing that mentally ill New Yorkers at

         22  risk of homelessness need.  The State is trying to

         23  avoid reinvesting in community mental health, the

         24  $55 million earned just a few weeks ago, when they

         25  sold several psychiatric centers.
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          2                 I hope we will be able to turn the

          3  calamity of Kendra Webdale's killing into something

          4  positive.  Please, do what you can to fund

          5  comprehensive, seamless, assertive, coordinated

          6  community- based treatment for New Yorkers with

          7  mental illness? Fund enough case management and ACT

          8  teams, so that every client who needs it has access.

          9    Support the development of and help fund new

         10  supportive residences for people who need them.

         11  Fund more supportive services, and could I say that

         12  one more time, fund more supportive services.  Find

         13  a way to increase the funding of the community-

         14  based mental health system so that it keeps pace

         15  with inflation.  Require real discharge plans from

         16  prisons and hospitals.  Help provide access to

         17  services that would make that goal a reality.  Help

         18  close the holes in the mental health safety net.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         20  much for your testimony, and since some witnesses

         21  may leave before the hearing ends, I intend to put a

         22  Task Force together from among you, the

         23  professionals and providers and patient/consumers,

         24  whichever the title one, to just help me with some

         25  recommendations, to give me some dollar figures so I
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          2  know that I'm not shooting in the dark, as to how we

          3  may be able to do this more comprehensively, and how

          4  we might be able to help to coordinate this and to

          5  make sure that it doesn't fall through the crack,

          6  including working from our body with the State to

          7  make sure that our colleagues or my counterparts in

          8  Albany recognizes that here at this level we're

          9  looking for that kind of partnership.  So I thank

         10  you very much for your testimony, which was well

         11  written.

         12                 MR. SAPERIA:  Thank you,

         13  Councilwoman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MR. SAPERIA:  Thank you for

         17  everything, and thank you for putting that in very

         18  tangible and to this otherwise rhetorical testimony.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Dr. Peter

         20  Campanelli.

         21                 DR. CAMPANELLI:  Councilwoman Clarke,

         22  staff of the Subcommittee, I wish to thank you for

         23  the opportunity to present this testimony.  My name

         24  is Dr. Peter Campanelli, and I am President and CEO

         25  of the Institute for Community Living.  On behalf of
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          2  myself and the two consumers of ICL services who

          3  have joined me here today to testify, Ms. Francetta

          4  McCray and Mr. Dennis Farrell, I would like to

          5  express our appreciation for this opportunity to

          6  address the Subcommittee.  My comments will focus

          7  upon the core services needed by seriously mentally

          8  ill people to successfully participate in and become

          9  a productive part of community life.  The much

         10  publicized New York/New York agreement has become

         11  the vehicle for delivering those services, and it

         12  has a historical proven track record.

         13                 Beneficiaries of New York/New York I,

         14  which was signed five years ago, such as Ms. McCray

         15  and Mr. Farrell, and not for- profit agencies with

         16  the responsibility for caring for individuals with

         17  serious mental illness, such as ICL, are eager to

         18  see a well- designed successor New York/New York II

         19  agreement enacted.  For many citizens with serious

         20  mental illness, having the right type of housing

         21  with appropriate support services is literally a

         22  matter of survival, life and death.

         23                 In evaluating my comments, please

         24  consider that they are drawn from ICL's experience

         25  in providing residential, rehabilitation, and
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          2  support services to nearly 1,600 Brooklyn and

          3  Manhattan citizens with serious mental illness,

          4  mental retardation, or developmental disabilities.

          5  Influencing my conclusions are the following

          6  findings regarding the people ICL serves:

          7                 Approximately half of the people with

          8  mental illness have histories of homelessness and

          9  very high rates of co- occurring substance abuse and

         10  physical illnesses in addition to their primary

         11  disability.

         12                 Twenty percent, before come to ICL,

         13  have had some contact with the criminal justice

         14  system, generally related to the impact of substance

         15  abuse.

         16                 ICL's admission trends for the past

         17  year suggest that criminal contact rates are

         18  climbing steeply among individuals with drug and

         19  alcohol abuse.

         20                 All of these factors make community

         21  adjustment for individuals with mental illness

         22  difficult.  Too often a jail cell has become the

         23  default support system for mentally ill people, and

         24  upon their inevitable release they return to the

         25  same inadequate housing and support system that
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          2  resulted in their original legal problem.  There is

          3  a solution to this dilemma, the solution is the

          4  creation of supportive housing and clinical

          5  treatment systems that are sufficiently intensive

          6  and flexible to provide the support these

          7  individuals need in communities.

          8                 No one can say for certain that had

          9  Mr. Goldstein been in supervised supported housing

         10  program the tragic events of two weeks ago could

         11  have been averted.  But what is fact is that violent

         12  crime perpetrated by mentally ill people, albeit a

         13  rare occurrence, inevitably has happened when these

         14  people were not connected with adequate housing and

         15  supports.

         16                 Decisions concerning the shape of the

         17  pending New York/New York II Agreement made to today

         18  will dictate service availability for year to come.

         19  Under New York/New York I, we have not even managed

         20  to play catch- up with the housing needs of those

         21  suffering from mental illness.  Now, with an ever

         22  tightening New York City housing market, it has

         23  become clear that people with mental illness cannot

         24  financially compete for housing vacancies, nor can

         25  they survive and be productive in communities
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          2  without the proper supports.  In addition, co-

          3  occurring drug and alcohol problems that are on the

          4  rise require appropriate integrated service

          5  interventions.  The New York/New York II Agreement

          6  must address these issues.  It is unmistakable that

          7  housing without the proper outreach and support

          8  systems will be as inadequate as no housing at all.

          9                 What is needed within the New

         10  York/New York II Agreement is housing that flexibly

         11  define homelessness to serve those people most at

         12  risk who do not have a place to live outside the

         13  streets, shelters or institutions not intended to

         14  provide residency.  By that I mean, a person in New

         15  York City should not have to become homeless to gain

         16  access to New York/New York housing.  The Agreement

         17  must also allocate resources to provide varied

         18  levels of supervision ranging from the supported

         19  level to 24- hour on- site supervision to reflect

         20  the realistic needs of the people served.  To ask

         21  that housing providers treat people with substance

         22  abuse problems and not provide funding for the

         23  substance abuse treatment specialists needed is not

         24  logical nor is it clinically sound.

         25                 As a society, we recognize our moral

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            27

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  obligations to provide the basic housing and

          3  services that many people with serious mental

          4  illness need.  The good news is that we know how to

          5  do this now after five years of successful

          6  intervention under New York/New York I.  The bad

          7  news is that we are constantly being delayed by the

          8  lack of a New York/New York II Agreement.  I won't

          9  bother to recite the statistics on cost-

         10  effectiveness, which have been talked about by my

         11  colleagues.

         12                 What I would like to do at this

         13  juncture is introduce you to two individuals who

         14  benefitted from New York/New York I and have them

         15  tell you the positive impact that that program has

         16  had on their lives.  First, Mr. Dennis Farrell.

         17                 MR. FARRELL:  Good morning ladies and

         18  gentlemen.  I would like to say that five years ago

         19  I was here before sharing on the New York/New York

         20  I, and I am here today, five years later, to say

         21  that how I have been maintaining myself.  My name is

         22  Dennis Farrell, I'm 53- years- old and I want to

         23  tell you a little bit about where I come from, what

         24  I have been through, and where I'm at today.

         25                 Growing up I was surrounded by
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          2  whores, pimps, stickup man, drug runners, and number

          3  takers.  I felt I lived down in the streets.  Never

          4  in my wildest dreams did I ever imagine that I could

          5  be who I am now.  I have a full- time job as a

          6  substance abuse specialist at the Institute of

          7  Community Living Day Treatment Program, as well as

          8  house manager.  My responsibilities range from

          9  intervening when people are experiencing behavioral

         10  problems and executing random urine tests, to

         11  calling repair people to fix the plumbing, the

         12  floors, or whatever else.

         13                 I live in a SCARCE site apartment and

         14  receive supportive services from the Institute of

         15  Community Living.  I help people and I am proud.

         16                 Now that is now, but it wasn't always

         17  like that. After years of drug abuse, homelessness,

         18  life on the subways and in the shelters, it's hard

         19  to remember what didn't go wrong.  I lost my

         20  childhood, and the photographs and treasures and

         21  self- esteem that went with it.  My memories of my

         22  mother, who died when I was four, and my father, who

         23  ran away when she died are just faint images.  My

         24  grandparents took me in, but life there tore me

         25  apart. My loving and devoted grandmother was
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          2  regularly beaten by my alcoholic grandfather.  I

          3  couldn't protect her and I couldn't persuade her to

          4  leave.

          5                 I escaped through alcohol and drugs

          6  and hung out on the streets doing petty crimes like

          7  pickpocketing and breaking into parking meters.  By

          8  age 16, I moved out of my grandparents bouncing back

          9  and forth between friend's apartments.  By 19 I was

         10  sniffing drugs, hustling, playing dice, stealing and

         11  selling drugs.  After being arrested several times,

         12  I was sent Upstate for two years. While I was there

         13  my grandmother died.

         14                 After release I went back to my old

         15  life and did whatever I had to do to support my IV

         16  drug habit.  Fourteen years later I was convicted of

         17  robbery and burglary and was sent to prison for five

         18  years.  While there, I met my future wife through a

         19  prison inmate and was later paroled to her.

         20                 Finally, at the age of 40 I had a

         21  good life, a home, a job, and a wonderful woman.

         22  Five years later, my world shattered, my wife died

         23  and my soul went with her.  I abandoned everything

         24  we shared and tried to kill the memory of her, with

         25  the drugs.  I stayed in a series of hotels until the
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          2  money ran out, then I lived on the streets and

          3  shelters and in subway cars.  I tried to commit

          4  suicide several times.

          5                 In 1991, two joggers happened to see

          6  me as I was on a ledge of the Williamsburg Bridge.

          7  They grabbed me and talked me down.  I went to

          8  Bellevue Psychiatric Ward, where I received

          9  treatment for a major depression.  After Bellevue, I

         10  was accepted into one of ICL's Residential Treatment

         11  Facilities, where my life was measured by daily

         12  routine.  Each day I got up, dressed, ate, had

         13  breakfast at 10:00 in the morning, meeting, followed

         14  by a break and a seminar on subjects ranging from

         15  conflict and resolution to money management.  I had

         16  group therapy, and each night was ended with another

         17  meeting.  I learned how to take care of myself, to

         18  be proud and to have enough left over to help

         19  others.

         20                 After about a year and one- half, I

         21  moved into a studio apartment with supportive

         22  services.  Six months later I graduated into an ICL

         23  SCARCE site, one- bedroom apartment where I live

         24  today.  On paper, I might seem like a bad person

         25  with a criminal record of 25 misdemeanors and four
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          2  felonies, and bouts of mental illness, but the truth

          3  is that I pulled my life together. I'm proud,

          4  despite my background.  I am actually a role model

          5  for other people just coming off of the streets or

          6  from out of prison.

          7                 Without supportive housing I would be

          8  on the streets or I would be dead today.

          9                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         10  speak to you all.

         11                 DR. CAMPANELLI:  Now I would like to

         12  introduce Ms. Francetta McCray.

         13                 MS. MCCRAY:  Good morning, all.  My

         14  name is Francetta McCray, and as a consumer I would

         15  like to read to you, because I'm nervous, a brief

         16  statement and a synopsis of my life, and the

         17  horrific experiences I went through with my

         18  psychiatric illness.

         19                 The most important thing in my life

         20  is my children. I had lost my kids in the system for

         21  four long years, until I was able to straighten out

         22  my life.  The Institute for Community Living helped

         23  me get them back, otherwise I would have spent the

         24  rest of my life searching for them.

         25                 I started using alcohol and heroin
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          2  when I was 14. For 27 years I drank and I used.  I

          3  tried to pull my life together to hold a job, to

          4  attend college, to take care of my little daughter,

          5  but I couldn't, I was so terribly depressed.

          6                 In 1991, I gave birth to twins, who

          7  were immediately placed in Foster Care.  I was on

          8  Methadone at the time.  My mother died shortly

          9  afterward, and my daughter's care was shuffled

         10  between relatives and strangers.  I was drinking

         11  heavily alone and I was hating myself.  I began to

         12  develop psychiatric symptoms.  I spent time on

         13  psychiatric wards and was transferred to a homeless

         14  shelter.  I attended a continuum day treatment

         15  program on a regular basis and continued to stay

         16  sober.  I realized how much the alcohol and drugs

         17  were covering up a deeper problem, mental illness.

         18                 Now sober and being treated for my

         19  psychiatric symptoms, I desperately wanted my

         20  children back.  I was referred to the Institute for

         21  Community Living, Emerson Family Development Center.

         22    I moved to Emerson in April 1996 and got custody

         23  of my kids a year later.

         24                 Since then I have remained clean and

         25  sober, and am continuing with my psychiatric
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          2  treatment.  I returned to college and will be

          3  graduating in December.  My daughter is 19 and my

          4  twins are 7.  And incidentally, my oldest daughter

          5  is on the Dean's List and I'm very proud of her.  My

          6  daughter is in her first year of college.

          7                 At Emerson I received ongoing support

          8  for myself and my children, and, you know, this is

          9  really important to me.  I receive a lot of love and

         10  help with mental health and child rearing issues, as

         11  well as alcohol and drug relapse prevention.  I have

         12  made friends and I feel good about myself.

         13                 In order to turn you life around, you

         14  need perseverance and patience, as well as the

         15  support and guidance of others who are really

         16  concerned and who care.

         17                 When I graduate with my degree in

         18  Community Health Education, I want to work with

         19  troubled adolescents in early identification and

         20  prevention.  Perhaps I can remove some of the

         21  stumbling blocks that would otherwise prevent them

         22  from realizing their dreams.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 DR. CAMPANELLI:  In conclusion,

         25  Councilwoman, I would like to mention that Mr.
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          2  Farrell and Ms. McCray agreed to come here in order

          3  to provide a human face to the debate.  The debate

          4  seems too often to surround dollars and cents, and

          5  how much the State and how much the City is going to

          6  contribute to the overall development of housing

          7  under the New York/New York II Initiative.  Housing

          8  that was authorized in legislation that passed July

          9  1, of last year, and has yet to begin to be

         10  implemented.

         11                 I would like to stress that it

         12  shouldn't be about dollars and cents at a time when

         13  the State is projecting a $1.5 billion surplus, it

         14  should be about getting the housing and support

         15  services necessary erected as quickly as possible so

         16  that people, such as Francetta and Dennis, can find

         17  their lives as well.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me just ask

         20  a question for those of you who educate the State,

         21  because I know you are an agency you can't lobby,

         22  for those of you who educate persons like myself,

         23  how does it seem in Albany and what do you think we

         24  can do from here both from the Mayor's side, which

         25  would probably have more leverage than we will have
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          2  because of party affiliation, what do you think the

          3  strategy ought to be?

          4                 DR. CAMPANELLI:  I think that some of

          5  the suggestions that have been made earlier by my

          6  colleagues are suggestions that I would endorse.  I

          7  think that the City should make a forceful statement

          8  with respect to the contribution it is making to New

          9  York/New York II, throw the gauntlet down, and

         10  require the State to respond.  I think that we need

         11  more support services within the City, and I think

         12  we need to look toward local government funding for

         13  some of those support services as well.

         14                 And finally, I think that one of the

         15  things that needs to happen is we need to have a

         16  Commission in place that could issue a report both

         17  intergovernmental as well as publicly that would

         18  talk about the barriers to erecting this kind of

         19  housing.  I think this issue needs to be opened up,

         20  in short.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         22  much.  And as always, you know that I respect the

         23  work that you do since some of that work involves my

         24  own district and have only heard good things from

         25  the neighbors who live next to the housing in my
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          2  district.  I have not had any negatives, like most

          3  people are afraid, and I think it is because you are

          4  respected and my own community respects the work

          5  that I do here that I can venture and ask them to

          6  accept housing in my district or clinic in my

          7  district.  And I'm very pleased to have that kind of

          8  partnership of professionals who know what they are

          9  doing, and somebody who can take the bully pulpit

         10  and say, well, what are we going to do with our own

         11  people.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 DR. CAMPANELLI:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Rosary Marinano.

         15                 MS. MARINANO:  I am here today to try

         16  to respond to your question.  I really don't know

         17  that people have an understanding.  First of all, my

         18  name is Rosary Marinano, and I'm a person who has

         19  been hospitalized many times in my life.  I carry

         20  different diagnostic labels, and I don't know how we

         21  solve the problem of Andrew Goldstein, I really

         22  don't know.  And I don't think professionals really

         23  have an answer.

         24                 He was taking medication, he wasn't

         25  taking medication, I'm here to throw up a red flag
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          2  about coercing and forcing people into treatment and

          3  into compliance with treatment. I think it is

          4  important that we start looking at the services and

          5  start assessing what is the medical treatment, not

          6  just blindly following what professionals are

          7  telling us in terms of psychiatry. And I think it is

          8  important, and I know that people across the State

          9  are very upset about the involuntary outpatient

         10  commitment program, and we want to see it sunset,

         11  and I hope that this incident doesn't add credence

         12  to the people that want to force treatment on

         13  consumers, especially on an outpatient basis.

         14                 Clearly, when services are working

         15  people want them and they will do, if something is

         16  helpful to you, you go for it. If something is not

         17  helpful, you turn away from it.  But when you're

         18  labeled mentally ill and you turn away from a

         19  service that somebody is telling you is good for

         20  you, that is considered to be part of your problem.

         21  And I would like to see an end to that.  The voice

         22  of the person, the voice of the client has to be

         23  more to the forefront.

         24                 I was glad that Mr. Campanelli

         25  brought some of his clients with him today.  That is
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          2  very important.  How can the City Council address

          3  it?  I don't know.  I would be willing to, if

          4  needed, if you want me to be part of your task

          5  force, I would be willing to take the time to be

          6  part of the task force to try to educate people in

          7  another perspective, and it's important that the

          8  voice of the client come out.  And too often on

          9  boards and on advisory boards the voice of the

         10  person who is all this stuff is being done for, is

         11  not necessarily addressed.

         12                 So that is what I'm really here for

         13  today, is to try to address and hope and pray that

         14  our civil rights do not become eroded even further

         15  by allowing outpatient commitment, which would allow

         16  the courts to tell a person what they can do and

         17  what they can't do.  It's eroding the civil rights

         18  of not just mental patients, but of everybody, and I

         19  hope that people can see that.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         22  much for your testimony.  Loretta Cerbelli.

         23                 MS. CERBELLI:  Good morning and thank

         24  you for allowing me to be here to testify.  My name

         25  is Loretta Cerbelli and I come here as a parent with
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          2  the Kevin Cerbelli Coalition.  My son is Kevin

          3  Cerbelli who was killed at the 110th Precinct on

          4  October 25th.

          5                 Kevin was an outpatient at the Mental

          6  Health Clinic at the Elmhurst Hospital.  Through

          7  personal experience I know the necessity to

          8  establish a case worker supervision and the need for

          9  more supported housing programs in the Mental Health

         10  Outpatient Clinics for everyone, not this program

         11  that is being proposed.

         12                 Kevin's medication was changed for no

         13  apparent reason in 1997.  He was happy and had been

         14  living a normal life without any hospitalizations

         15  while taking his previous medication. He slowly

         16  deteriorated over the past year and one- half and

         17  was in and out of Elmhurst four times.  His physical

         18  and mental health deteriorated, he was losing

         19  control of his normal life.

         20                 Each time he was released from

         21  Elmhurst without supervision and in August against

         22  my wishes.  I knew my son was still ill.

         23                 I had pleaded for case management or

         24  placement to his clinic assigned case worker, and I

         25  also pleaded for medication change over and over.  I
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          2  also pleaded to the case workers and doctors, he was

          3  assigned during his four hospitalizations for the

          4  same.

          5                 I was promised these services,

          6  placement since March 1996, but they never

          7  materialized.  There is a dire need for more

          8  supported housing.  My daughter was informed by

          9  Kevin's case worker that I over react and was overly

         10  concerned.  Was I?

         11                 We all know our loved ones, and I

         12  know my son required the service of case management

         13  for the past year and one half.  I was very

         14  frightened for him, his new medication was not

         15  helping him.  No one at Elmhurst would hear me that

         16  he needed to be monitored, but not your proposed

         17  way.

         18                 Will I be heard today?  They deserve

         19  the same entitlements.  This service already exists

         20  within the confines of the structured environments

         21  of agency affiliated consumers.  Agency case workers

         22  go out into the field and monitor their consumers,

         23  not throw them in institutions if there is a

         24  medication problem.

         25                 Are the outpatients who are non-
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          2  agency affiliated less important?  They are the

          3  forgotten population in the Mental Health Field and

          4  are denied the same entitlements others receive. If

          5  there is funding available for these services to

          6  agencies, why is it denied to the Mentally Disabled

          7  who are non- agency affiliated outpatients?  Why is

          8  there such a lack of concern for the well being of

          9  this population?  Why is there a line drawn?  There

         10  is a need for equal services for everyone, not your

         11  way, not to institutionalize people.  This is not a

         12  solution, it is regression, not progression.

         13                 I am employed at a human services

         14  agency for over four years now, and am very aware

         15  that these services and that they already exist for

         16  agency consumers.

         17                 Reform for the better needs to be

         18  implemented within the Mental Health Field, your way

         19  is an outrage.  I am not here today representing the

         20  human Services agency I work for.  I am here today

         21  on a no pay day with the Kevin Cerbelli Coalition to

         22  plead for much needed services, not for the program

         23  you proposed.

         24                 Can you hear me and others today

         25  imploring you not to initiate this program, but fill
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          2  the gap and lack of entitlements for this population

          3  instead?

          4                 Please stop this denial.  I know my

          5  son would be alive today if one person had heard my

          6  pleas for services, placement and medication change.

          7    It will be worth not being paid today, if you

          8  initiate equal services and reach out to the

          9  underserved mentally disabled non- agency affiliated

         10  outpatient population and even just save one life.

         11  It is too late for my son, but not for others.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:   The first thing

         13  that I ask is that you send us a copy of your

         14  testimony, or you leave it.  We will have that

         15  retyped so it will be on the record, but that we

         16  will be able to use points that you have made in

         17  there in our own deliberation or whatever we will do

         18  from now on.

         19                 And I forgot to thank everyone just

         20  recognizing the weather out there, this must have

         21  been a very, very important topic to all of you that

         22  you would brave the weather.  I am a public servant

         23  so I would have to come, otherwise the press would

         24  say that I neglected my duty, but for all of you who

         25  have come, I want to thank you both for your
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          2  dedication and for wanting to come because this is

          3  an important topic for all of us.

          4                 I thank you for your heart wrenching

          5  testimony, and those of us who are parents know how

          6  difficult it is, never mind when you try to put your

          7  own input and then don't get all of what you want in

          8  that input.  So I am moved by your testimony, and

          9  certainly will take into consideration your

         10  testimony.  I thank you very much.  And if you would

         11  give your testimony to the Sergeant At- Arms over

         12  there, we will make sure that we can have it typed

         13  and entered into the record.  Thank you very much.

         14                 MS. CERBELLI:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me

         16  acknowledge and introduce, I'm sure that all of you

         17  know his name, but I just want you to put the name

         18  to his face, Council Member Steven DiBrienza, who is

         19  the Chair of all of human services, all of those

         20  services under HRA, and who fights as hard as he can

         21  for the poorest and the most desperate of all New

         22  Yorkers.  And I'm sure he is here today, especially

         23  because a facility in his district was to be made

         24  from a psychiatric outpatient clinic into a homeless

         25  shelter and we saw it as agencies fighting against
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          2  agencies, in my mind, and one service being put

          3  against the other, both of which are critical to the

          4  development and for the extension of services that

          5  we need for all of the people and for those who are

          6  desperately in need of our City.

          7                 I am sure that he has a few words to

          8  say.  Council member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIBRIENZA:  Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair. First let me apologize, I'm not real

         11  big on suits and ties, you know, kind of like people

         12  tell me more often that I might be mistaken for a

         13  limousine driver rather than - -  I'm sorry, never

         14  mind, never mind.

         15                 Anyway, let me say two or three quick

         16  and serious things.  You know I Chaired this

         17  Committee on General Welfare, which Una was a

         18  member, Council Member Clarke was a member for

         19  several years now, with this Subcommittee continues

         20  a very important related field to human services and

         21  providing for those in need.  It is never easy to

         22  balance, but it is what we seek to do, balance

         23  providing services for those in need, while at the

         24  same time protecting communities those in need find

         25  themselves in, but that is what good leadership is
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          2  about, that is what dedication and tenacity and, you

          3  know, sort of what it takes, that is what we're

          4  willing to put in, what, you no doubt, in your roles

          5  as consumers, and advocates, and as providers, have

          6  come to realize.  It is not good to be on the

          7  extreme whatever that extreme may be, as others, you

          8  know, sort of places others choose to occupy.

          9                 So that is, I think, just something I

         10  would like to say, and I know it is a struggle that

         11  Councilwoman Clarke engages in, and it is a struggle

         12  I engage in, and I think it is an important struggle

         13  to find balance when we try to provide these

         14  services.

         15                 Having said that, the reason I

         16  stopped, despite the weather and the rush of the

         17  morning, was because it is important that the

         18  community at large of this City understand mental

         19  health services, the need, what those services are,

         20  what they mean to people who receive them.  You

         21  know, in my district, and I don't want to make it

         22  about my district because it is a much more

         23  important and global topic, this multi- service

         24  center that the Administration seeks to take apart,

         25  you know, provides services to some 500 folks a
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          2  week.  It is also does things for seniors and young

          3  people, and community and civic groups, and the

          4  like.  It is a multi- service center, in fact, it

          5  should heralded as a model that we could use

          6  throughout this City, you know, in neighborhoods.

          7  You know, that is something that has been missing,

          8  you know, the kind of talk about what these services

          9  really are all about, what folks who need them are

         10  really all about and how they can be helped by these

         11  services.

         12                 I know that is what Council Member

         13  Clarke does with her Committee, I know that is what

         14  you will all do today as your testify, and that

         15  tragedy that occurred when one person is not able to

         16  receive services and gets to a point of, you know,

         17  acting with tragic consequences may be enough of a

         18  reminded to all of us as to, who are not directly

         19  involved in receiving or giving these services, but

         20  are trying to be legislators, about how important

         21  these services are.  I'm sure there are more

         22  compelling and direct testimony you will hear, but

         23  for us not directly involved in either providing or

         24  receiving that tragedy, you know, if we didn't know

         25  it before, tells us how important it is that folks
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          2  receive services and treatments and the like, and

          3  that the difficult balancing act we engage in is

          4  very important.  It is easy to be an extremist, it's

          5  not so easy to be involved in balancing these

          6  issues.

          7                 So, Madam Chair, I will stay for a

          8  while and hear some of the testimony.  I will ask

          9  that the staff provide my assistant of the various

         10  copies, because I know people sometimes bring copies

         11  with them.  And again, as Committee Chair to

         12  Subcommittee Chair and former member, and more

         13  importantly, Brooklyn colleagues, if there is

         14  anything I can do on these larger issues with you, I

         15  am always pleased to offer assistance.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And you know I'm

         18  not shy in asking for help.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIBRIENZA:  That is

         20  true.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  So I thank you

         22  very much for coming.  Our next witness is Dr. Ken

         23  Popler, and he is from a small island without an

         24  accent.  He does all of what Staten Island needs in

         25  mental health.
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          2                 DR. POPLER:  Councilwoman Una Clarke,

          3  Subcommittee Chair; Councilman Dibrienza, good

          4  morning.  Good morning to you all.  Thank you for

          5  allowing me the opportunity of testifying today on

          6  Supervision of Outpatient Mental Health Services in

          7  New York City.

          8                 My name is Ken Popler, and I am the

          9  President/CEO of the Staten Island Mental Health

         10  Society, a multi- faceted services agency providing

         11  mental health, mental retardation, alcoholism,

         12  special education, child abuse and substance abuse

         13  prevention and other services to 5,000 Staten Island

         14  adults and children each year and to their families.

         15    That is one out of ten Staten Island families that

         16  we serve each year.  This year we are celebrating

         17  the services to the 250,000th Staten Islander since

         18  our organization was crated 100 years ago.

         19                 I am please to speak before you today

         20  on Supervision of Outpatient Mental Health Services.

         21    I will cover three topics in my testimony to you.

         22  The effectiveness of mental health service, the

         23  current service array in New York City, the gaps in

         24  the services array, and the availability of

         25  resources to fill the gaps.
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          2                 First, the effectiveness of mental

          3  health services. Mental health services work, such

          4  services reduce symptoms, enable the individual to

          5  function in his or her family and natural

          6  environment, to gain or maintain competitive

          7  employment, and to improve the quality of his or her

          8  life.

          9                 In a recent study, Consumer Reports

         10  surveyed its readers about their recent experiences

         11  with mental health services. There were 7,000

         12  responses to the mental health questionnaires

         13  nationwide.  The survey concluded that patients

         14  benefitted very substantially from psychotherapy.

         15                 Mental health treatment and

         16  rehabilitation services have been shown to be

         17  effective for adults diagnosed with neurobiological

         18  disorders, such as schizophrenia.  A landmark five

         19  year scientific study conducted by Dr. Anthony

         20  Lehman and others, funded by the National Institute

         21  of Mental Health and the Agency for Health Care

         22  Policy and Research, found that treatment works for

         23  persons diagnosed with schizophrenia.  The

         24  researchers identified 30 treatments and services

         25  that have been proven effectively reduce symptoms of
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          2  schizophrenia and improve consumer recovery.

          3  However, the researchers also found that "access to

          4  effective treatment is intolerably inadequate."

          5                 Dr. Lehman and his colleagues, in

          6  their national survey, examined the actual treatment

          7  receive by hundreds of individuals diagnosed with

          8  schizophrenia.  The researchers found, only 29

          9  percent of people with schizophrenia received the

         10  appropriate dose of antipsychotic medication of the

         11  long term. Fewer than half of the people with

         12  schizophrenia who suffer symptoms of depression

         13  receive antidepressant medication, even though 15

         14  percent of people with schizophrenia go on to commit

         15  suicide.  African- Americans are almost twice as

         16  likely as Caucasians to be over medicated with

         17  antipsychotic medications. Fewer than one in ten

         18  families receives even minimal education and

         19  support.  Fewer than one in four consumers with

         20  schizophrenia who can benefit from employment

         21  services receive such support.  And only two percent

         22  of individuals with schizophrenia receive Assertive

         23  Community Treatment, which is highly effective in

         24  preventing relapse and hospitalization.

         25                 The terrible tragedy that occurred
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          2  within the New York City subway system on January

          3  3rd, where Andrew Goldstien pushed Kendra Webdale to

          4  her death, brought us together this morning.  In

          5  reviewing the newspaper accounts of Mr. Goldstein's

          6  history, it is apparent that he received many years

          7  of inpatient and outpatient services, including

          8  medication.

          9                 Where were the gaps in services?

         10  There are two that seem quite apparent.  Perhaps if

         11  Mr. Goldstein received supported housing services,

         12  he would have had a more stable living arrangement

         13  with some degree of support and supervision.  And

         14  for those times that he would not or could not go to

         15  the clinic to receive services and mediation,

         16  services from an Assertive Community Treatment team

         17  would have facilitated a continuity of care.  In New

         18  York City, supported housing and ACT team services

         19  are in high demand and are very difficult to access.

         20    Andrew Goldstein should have had these services

         21  available.

         22                 In New York City, just as in the

         23  national study, there are too many service gaps.

         24  Let me just mention some availability of resources

         25  to fill the gaps, which you asked Mr. Campanelli,
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          2  before.

          3                 There are three areas that I would

          4  like to point out.  The first is the State Executive

          5  Budget.  In two weeks on January 26th, Governor

          6  Pataki will issue the State's Executive Budget.  We

          7  need to work together in New York City to ensure

          8  that the needs of our community are addressed.

          9                 The second, which Mr. Campanelli

         10  addressed, is New York/New York II.  Based on the

         11  success of the first New York/New York Agreement

         12  between New York City and State, we need to be more

         13  aggressive here in the City in having the State

         14  honoring its responsibility to provide housing

         15  services to the severely mentally ill.

         16                 And the third source of revenue I

         17  would like to point out, reinvest the monies from

         18  the sale of State properties. Reinvest the millions

         19  of dollars earned by the State from the sale of its

         20  psychiatric and developmental centers to enhance the

         21  mental health and disabilities service sectors

         22  respectively.

         23                 New York State is currently selling

         24  land and buildings of twelve psychiatric and

         25  developmental centers.  The sale of the first four
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          2  properties will yield a profit, after the deduction

          3  of capital debt, of $15 million, the profit is $15

          4  million, these profits should be reinvested in the

          5  service center, and I don't believe they are covered

          6  by reinvestment.  The money should come back to the

          7  MH or MR/DD service systems where they should remain

          8  to provide the needed services.  These are Mental

          9  Health and Mental Retardation monies.

         10                 One word of caution I would like to

         11  point out to the City Council.  We need to be very

         12  careful about protecting consumer's rights to

         13  services in an era of mandatory enrollment of

         14  Medicaid recipients into managed care plans.  The

         15  Consumers Report survey, also, found that "Patients

         16  whose length of therapy or choice of therapist was

         17  limited by insurance or managed care did worse."

         18                 This morning, my testimony is focused

         19  on the effectiveness of mental health services, they

         20  do work, the gaps in services, we do have tremendous

         21  gaps in New York City, and the availability of some

         22  resources to fill those gaps.

         23                 Thank you for allowing me the

         24  opportunity to testify today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You named three
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          2  specific recommendations that you made, can you tell

          3  us where the advocates and the people who really

          4  make a difference in speaking to Albany, where they

          5  are on any of these, and especially on the New

          6  York/New York Agreement, and what is the indication

          7  coming from the Governor, is he willing to now

          8  provide the money or reinvest any of these?  Also I

          9  just needed to add to that, I was doing my homework

         10  for today's hearing, some of, both advocates, as

         11  well as those who watch the pattern of the persons

         12  who are in the mental health institutions, it is my

         13  understanding that New York City gets a lot more of

         14  these patients coming to the City without the kind

         15  of support services or even knowing where they are,

         16  because there was no way in their discharge planning

         17  that anybody knew to what institution they were

         18  going to be assigned once they leave those

         19  psychiatric hospitals Upstate.  Do you have any

         20  indication that this may be true?

         21                 DR. POPLER:  Well, I mean, who are

         22  the patients that are in State Hospitals around, in

         23  OMH facilities around the State? These are New York

         24  City people in the main and are sent to all the

         25  State facilities and distributed to the State

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            55

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  facilities around the State.  It is appropriate that

          3  they return to New York City because that is where

          4  their families are.  But, nevertheless, when the

          5  properties are sold we need to make sure that a

          6  large proportion is returned to New York City

          7  because those are the people that are going to need

          8  the services that the State is now rightly

          9  downsizing and closing down.  So those are our

         10  citizens.

         11                 Now in terms of the Governor's

         12  Executive Budget, I don't know what is going to be

         13  in it.  I will defer to my colleague, Phil Saperia,

         14  but the budget will be out in 11 days and we will

         15  all know at that point.  But one thing that we do

         16  know, it's not going to address adequately the needs

         17  of New York City, because it never has.  And we need

         18  to be very aggressive about that to make sure that

         19  we just don't go by, get another few dollars here at

         20  the margin or there at the margin that we really

         21  need to bolster the service system now that the

         22  State has downsized.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         24  much.  Staff just reminded me that we did an early

         25  resolution on the New York/New York Agreement and
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          2  that being the case we will do an early hearing on

          3  that, at least, to send our message from the City

          4  Council to the State that we will be watching and

          5  know what they're doing there.  So we will follow-

          6  up and you will notified of the hearing on the New

          7  York/New York Agreement, so, at least, in New York

          8  City we can make as much noise as we need to make so

          9  that the Governor can hear us clearly in Albany.

         10                 DR. POPLER:  You know many years ago,

         11  perhaps five or six years ago, maybe one or two

         12  more, when the State was resisting reinvesting the

         13  dollars from the closed psychiatric institutions,

         14  the City Council had unanimous vote and supported

         15  the reinvestment legislation in the State and it was

         16  very, very helpful in terms of getting that final

         17  State legislation passed and having the Governor

         18  sign it, so this would certainly be appreciated.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Count on it,

         20  count on it.

         21                 DR. POPLER:  Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me

         23  acknowledge my colleague from Manhattan, Council

         24  Member Reed, who is a member of Health, but has

         25  never missed a Mental Health hearing, and I give him
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          2  high marks for his consistent support of the work

          3  that I do.

          4                 Michael Silverberg.

          5                 MR. SILVERBERG:  Good morning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning.

          7                 MR. SILVERBERG:  My name is Michael

          8  Silverberg.  I am President of NAMI- NYC- Metro,

          9  which is the largest affiliate of the National

         10  Alliance for the Mentally Ill in New York State.  I

         11  would like other thank the City Council and its

         12  Subcommittee and the members here today for this

         13  opportunity to address you regarding outpatient care

         14  for persons suffering from mental illness, and with

         15  special thanks to Council Member Clarke, who is well

         16  known to my organization, we have been very pleased

         17  to have her attend our meetings and speak to us on

         18  occasions.

         19                 Our attention has been focused on

         20  this issue by the tragic death of Kendra Webdale at

         21  the hands of an mentally ill individual, Andrew

         22  Goldstein, who has admitted pushing her from a

         23  subway platform.  This nightmare tragedy destroyed

         24  the life of a promising and remarkable young woman.

         25  It was also a great tragedy for Mr. Goldstein and
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          2  for his family.

          3                 Your Committee has properly asked for

          4  comment on whether our system of mental health care

          5  properly treats and watches out for mentally ill

          6  persons, such as Mr. Goldstein, residing in the

          7  community.  Clearly, it does not.  Mental health

          8  professionals as well as advocates for the mentally

          9  ill are well aware of the system's failings.

         10                 For several decades, New York has

         11  progressively closed its institutions for the

         12  mentally ill.  The primary reason has been the

         13  development of new medications that have been highly

         14  successful in treating mental illness.  But it is

         15  well known that these drugs are not a cure.  Despite

         16  medications, the mentally ill need a reasonable

         17  support system.  They need decent housing, jobs,

         18  social interaction and case managers to watch out

         19  for them.  It is not enough to put a mentally ill

         20  person out on the street with a bottle of meds,

         21  which is pretty much what happened to Andrew

         22  Goldstein at the time when this tragic incident

         23  occurred.

         24                 I do not aim criticism at any

         25  particular hospital or institutions.  Our society
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          2  has been pleased to save money by closing down

          3  mental institutions.  It has not seen fit to commit

          4  the money needed to create community resources to

          5  replace them, including housing, jobs, and dedicated

          6  professionals to monitor, help and maintain contact

          7  with persons with mental illness.

          8                 A specific support system that NAMI

          9  has long advocated, goes by the name of PACT,

         10   "Program for Assertive Community Treatment."  The

         11  PACT concept is to create a so- called "Hospital

         12  without Walls."  When a PACT team enrolls a mentally

         13  ill individual, the members of that team keep in

         14  touch with that person regularly, monitor their

         15  compliance with medications, help them with the

         16  daily problems of life.  If the ill person does not

         17  show up at the PACT office, the PACT teams will go

         18  to her or him.  New York has only a few such teams,

         19  serving a handful of patients.

         20                 Not every person with mental illness

         21  needs this level of care.  But all need some level

         22  of human, caring attention. Andrew Goldstein was

         23  receiving no level of attention, as is true of many

         24  thousands of others with mental illness.  The reason

         25  is obvious and simple.  Society refuses to spend the
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          2  money to provide decent housing and civilized

          3  services for the mentally ill.

          4                 The death of Kendra Webdale should be

          5  a wake- up call.  There is no sum of money that can

          6  compensate for this tragedy.  Wise expenditures for

          7  needed mental health care might have prevented it.

          8                 I am very grateful for the

          9  opportunity to speak to this Committee and for the

         10  leadership you are providing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         12  much for your testimony.  Cynthia Matthews.  Mr.

         13  Silverberg, would you take a seat, somebody has a

         14  question, I'm sorry.

         15                 MR. STEIN:  We were pleased to hear

         16  your testimony about the effectiveness of PACT

         17  Teams, and I was just wondering if you could speak

         18  to the deficit and what would be the unmet need in

         19  terms of PACT Teams here in the City?

         20                 MR. SILVERBERG:  PACT Teams, as I

         21  conceive of them, probably are required for only the

         22  most needy.  They are, I have heard estimates of

         23  $450,000 per year for each PACT Team.  As I

         24  understand it, they have 8 to 10 professionals and

         25  serve perhaps 50, perhaps a bit more clients.  They
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          2  can be extremely effective for those that they

          3  serve.  I think that it has been established fairly

          4  well that the people who are served by PACT Teams do

          5  not show up in hospitalizations, they are kept out

          6  of hospitals.  So that the substantial sums

          7  appearing, what appears to be on the surface, the

          8  initial substantial sums invested in PACT Teams come

          9  back in substantially greater savings, because you

         10  do not have these people going through revolving

         11  doors into the hospitals and with lengthy stays in

         12  hospitals.

         13                 I'm not sure whether that addresses

         14  fully the question that was raised, but the PACT

         15  Teams directed at those who are most needy, can save

         16  very substantial sums of money for the system and

         17  can be very, very effective for those who are cared

         18  for by these Teams.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         20  much.  Ms. Matthews.

         21                 MS. MATTHEWS:  I would like to say

         22  that Nikki Henkin and I worked on this together, and

         23  since she is a better reader than I am, I would like

         24  for her to speak.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, fine.
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          2                 MS. HENKIN:  Good morning.  Thank you

          3  for letting us come to speak to you today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Would both of

          5  you identify yourselves for the record, and then the

          6  other could just speak?

          7                 MS. HENKIN:  Okay.  My name is Nikki

          8  Henkin.  I am the Co- Chair of the 100- 299 East

          9  77th Street Block Association.  To my left is

         10  Cynthia Matthews, who is the Co- Chair of the 200

         11  East 78th Street Block Association in Manhattan.

         12                 We weren't sure how much time we

         13  would be given so we put together a joint statement.

         14    The biggest problem with the current mental health

         15  system is no one knows about the current population

         16  of the five State Mental facilities in New York

         17  City. All total there are approximately 6,000

         18  patients remaining in all our State long- term care

         19  facilities, down from roughly 100,000, 20 years ago.

         20                 According to the State's five- year

         21  plan, they will decrease this population to roughly

         22  half, that is half of the 6,000, through more

         23  downsizing and discharges.  The current population

         24  in our asylums or institutions is very different

         25  from what it was in the early nineties.  What you do
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          2  not know is that many of these patients have been

          3  remanded to our State mental facilities by our State

          4  Parole Board in prisons.  These patients are being

          5  discharged at break speed rates, with no follow- up

          6  for aftercare.  Some of these people were convicted

          7  of murder, rape, arson, and stalking among other

          8  crimes.  What makes any of you think these patients

          9  are cured?  They are not cured because brain

         10  disorders cannot be cured, only controlled with

         11  psychotropic medications and only if the patients

         12  take the prescribed meds.

         13                 These patients, above all others,

         14  need to be in supervised housing programs.  Are they

         15  in supervised housing?  No. One recently released

         16  Manhattan Psychiatric Center patient, Coy Tab, with

         17  a criminal history of assault and illegal substances

         18  was taken by MPC, that is Manhattan Psychiatric

         19  Center, than to the Y on West 63rd Street.  Is this

         20  a supervised housing facility for former mental

         21  patients with criminal backgrounds?  Unlikely.

         22                 If any of the above patients are

         23  released to apartments without supervision, what

         24  happens if a former arsonist is left to his own

         25  devices in an apartment without supervision?  Do any
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          2  of you remember the 1998 fire on the Upper West Side

          3  that started on the top floor apartments rented by

          4  former mental patients?  How many released arsonists

          5  or rapists are living in scattered side housing

          6  throughout the City without supervision?

          7                 There is another problem with lack of

          8  notification to the proper authorities about escaped

          9  mental patients.  The Mental Health System, the

         10  Police Department, Criminal Justice, the Department

         11  of Correction, DAs, all fail to communicate with one

         12  another about the past mental history of former

         13  patients, including medications taken, reactions to

         14  those medications, history of past violence in

         15  and/or out of the hospital, voluntary versus

         16  involuntary status, escaped versus on- pass status.

         17  The State has the right to mark escaped patients

         18  discharged after they are missing for 72 hours.

         19  This flaw in the law attempts to relinquish

         20  responsibility of the State for missing escaped

         21  patients.  There should be an immediate legislative

         22  remedy to this, specifically dealing with criminal

         23  patients who were remanded to State Mental

         24  Institutions and have escaped.

         25                 And why did it take four years for
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          2  the State to construct a fence around Manhattan

          3  Psychiatric after Rubin Harris, another famous

          4  subway pusher escaped?  Using terms, such as left

          5  without consent, eloped, or missing, fails to

          6  communicate that seriously mentally ill patients are

          7  no longer in secured State mental facilities where

          8  they belong.  These are buzz words meant to minimize

          9  the seriousness of the situation.  If a mental

         10  patient escapes, the police and the public have a

         11  right to know.  We are discussing public safety

         12  here.  How many lives must be lost before you and

         13  the State begin to pay attention and correct this

         14  serious flaw in the law?

         15                 I refer you to the ABC TV item on

         16  Watkeam Rodriguez, who escaped from Manhattan

         17  Psychiatric Center this past September, was arrested

         18  three separate times and no one knew he was from

         19  Manhattan Psychiatric.  Were it not for ABC

         20  reporter's Sarah Wallace's determination, Watkeam

         21  would not now be in the psych ward on Riker's.

         22  Apparently there was no communication about

         23  Watkeam's mental status between Manhattan Psych and

         24  Riker's.

         25                 The concept of moving discharged
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          2  mentally ill back into communities sounds very kind

          3  and charitable on paper, but it does not work

          4  because no one made enforcement, tracking,

          5  monitoring, and supervision part of the deal.  How

          6  can you consider releasing people who have no

          7  insight into their mental conditions, who have

          8  failed to take care of themselves in the past, who

          9  may have assaulted or even killed their primary

         10  caregivers in the past, who because of their

         11  illnesses find it impossible to believe that they

         12  have serious problems, who because of the very bad

         13  side effects of some of the psychotropic medications

         14  do not want to take these medications?  And, yet,

         15  each and every day our State mental facilities are

         16  discharging these vulnerable people with no mandated

         17  follow- up, no mandated monitoring, no mandated

         18  tracking, no mandated supervised housing, no

         19  mandated directly- observed therapy, and no mandated

         20  communication between OMH and our criminal justice

         21  system.  Why?  Because it cost a lot of money to

         22  keep mental patients in institutions.

         23                 If you are going to be honest with

         24  yourselves and the public, stop using the term

         25  housing, housing, housing, and tell the truth, it's
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          2  money, money, money.  That is why the patients are

          3  being released and for no other reason.  Had there

          4  mental problems been cured?  No, there is no cure

          5  for paranoid schizophrenia, only temporary control

          6  and only with the daily use of psychotropic

          7  medications.

          8                 What would Dorothy Lynn Dix think if

          9  she returned to New York today?  For those of you

         10  who are unfamiliar with her name, let me explain.

         11  She began and created the mental asylums back in the

         12  1850s.  Ms. Dix convinced legislators the mentally

         13  ill on our streets needed long- term care in

         14  facilities, specifically designed to meet their

         15  needs.  Over 100 years later, we systematically

         16  emptied the majority of our State mental asylums and

         17  returned the patients to our streets.  Of course,

         18  things are very different today, Ms. Dix would be

         19  shocked by the mentally ill today who also suffer

         20  from substance abuse, as crack and cocaine did not

         21  exist in her time.  There also were no psychotropic

         22  medications that could control some of the brain

         23  disorders.

         24                 And now I would like to let Cynthia

         25  read for a while.
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          2                 MS. MATTHEWS:  Some mental patients

          3  are like children. Imagine a parent telling a child

          4  he has no curfew, no responsibilities, and he must

          5  go out and live on his own.  If a mental patient has

          6  what the doctors call no insight into his problem,

          7  then how can any of you believe that the patient

          8  will see the need to stay on the very medications

          9  that gives him temporary relief?  Community care has

         10  failed to provide what these released patients need,

         11  constant supervision and care.

         12                 Isn't community care, at its worst,

         13  abandonment of the patients?  Yes, there are a few

         14  good community care programs, you can probably count

         15  them on two hands.  But what about the mills that

         16  run production line programs, the more patients they

         17  claim to see, the more money they collect from the

         18  City, State, and Federal governments?  What do they

         19  do for the patients?  By mills I am referring to

         20  some psychotherapy clinics that may have one

         21  psychiatrist, who may show up for part of one day,

         22  per week, and 50 social workers who are not trained

         23  at all to evaluate mental patients.  In fact, social

         24  workers are trained to believe that they can help,

         25  but they are not qualified to diagnose.  There is a
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          2  vast difference between the clinical training a

          3  psychiatrist receives and the training a social

          4  worker receives.  Why are social workers put in

          5  charge of aftercare for seriously, mentally ill

          6  people? Answer, money.  Is this fair to the patient

          7  or to the social worker?

          8                 As for the adult homes you have

          9  places where more than 350 former patients live with

         10  no curfew, no licensed personnel dispensing

         11  medications, no therapy, and no recreation.  These

         12  are merely warehouses for people with mental

         13  problems.  At one of them in Queens a patient has

         14  been denied all of its medications, including

         15  psychotropics Risperdal and Adavan.  He has been

         16  denied for the past three weeks because his Medicaid

         17  has not kicked in yet.  This is shameful, but does

         18  anyone know about these cases?

         19                 Community care cannot work and will

         20  never work until there is a Statewide computer data

         21  bank to track all discharged mentally ill patients,

         22  not just a data bank shared by five local hospitals.

         23    Remember that in order to collect Welfare, a

         24  client has to submit to electronic fingerprinting

         25  for identification.  Some of you may not like that
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          2  idea, but it is a reality.  Many discharged mental

          3  patients have past criminal records and do not give

          4  their real identity to hospitals or the police.  How

          5  are these people supposed to know who these mental

          6  patients actually are?

          7                 Remember that Andrew Goldstein gave

          8  an incorrect phone number to a hospital that gave

          9  him a prescription for 10 days worth of psychotropic

         10  meds.  When the hospital placed a follow- up call,

         11  they found the number was not correct.  Then what,

         12  how do they find him?  Now danger goes beyond the

         13  subway platforms.

         14                 Do any of you remember the man who

         15  shot a tourist on 6th Avenue in the West 50s, this

         16  past summer?  He gave the police his name as John

         17  Palmer.  From what I understand, his name is really

         18  John Yohey.  Have we ever heard another word about

         19  John Palmer Yohey?  No.  What happened to him?

         20                 There is a Caucasian woman, 53-

         21  years- old, languishing in Riker's by the name of

         22  Lynn Kenny, and I will bet that each and every one

         23  of you that you know absolutely nothing about her.

         24  For the record, last April 24, she took a box cutter

         25  to a young 29- year- old woman, who was pregnant at
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          2  the time.  This happened on West 86th Street at 8:40

          3  in the evening.  Ms. Kenny was a resident of Euclid

          4  Hall on Broadway and 86th Street.  Allegedly, she

          5  gave no indication of potential danger to the people

          6  who run Euclid Hall, but she went out and brutally

          7  assaulted an unsuspecting woman who did nothing more

          8  than walk on a public sidewalk.  It isn't only

          9  teenage gang members who carry box cutters, doesn't

         10  Euclid Hall have a metal detector?

         11                 This case, some of you may remember,

         12  Laura Zarinski, the line producer for New York One.

         13  She was brutally beaten by Gary Graves on Broadway

         14  and West 70th Street at 3:00 p.m. In the afternoon.

         15  Gary Graves was 26 at the time and had been in four

         16  different New York State mental facilities and

         17  discharged from each of them.  Where was the follow-

         18  up on Gary Graves when he was discharged on four

         19  separate occasions?  Graves is a victim of the lack

         20  of discharge plans for mental patients and Laura

         21  Zarinski is a victim of Graves.

         22                 We have a major public safety problem

         23  here, we have allowed the State to release patients

         24  who desperately need specialized care.  Each and

         25  every one of us who uses our subway or bus system or
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          2  certainly we walk, who is looking out for our

          3  safety? And what are you going to do to protect the

          4  millions of people, some of us, your constituents,

          5  from a haphazard, ineffective discharge system of

          6  mental patients?  How are you going to guarantee

          7  that patients take their medications without

          8  monitoring, tracking, and directly- observed therapy

          9  in place?

         10                 Now one last item, we are especially

         11  worried about the many volunteers in churches and

         12  synagogues, who have no training to deal with these

         13  volatile, vulnerable people who come for their

         14  feeding programs.  Will one of these volunteers

         15  become the next victim of a discharged mental

         16  patient off medications? How many times do you need

         17  to see a television expose, such as those provided

         18  by Jeraldo Rivera on Willowbrook, and Sarah Wallace

         19  about Manhattan Psychiatric?  How many times does 60

         20  Minutes need to revisit the story on Larry and Harry

         21  Hogue, before you do something about a safety hazard

         22  that we all have endured for far too long?

         23                 We hope you institute some meaningful

         24  legislation that protects the patients and society,

         25  call it Kendra's Law or call it Una Clarke's Law,
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          2  but do something now.  We have suffered enough

          3  violence at the hands of people who have stopped

          4  taking their medications and never had proper

          5  supervision upon discharge from State mental

          6  institutions or City hospital psychiatric wards. We

          7  are supplying you with a list of almost 40 former

          8  mental patients who have victimized New York City

          9  citizens and a complete schedule of the many times

         10  Larry Hogue went through the mental health system's

         11  revolving door.

         12                 We thank you for allowing us to come

         13  before you today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Joie Andersen.

         16                 MS. ANDERSEN:  My name is Joie

         17  Andersen.  I am President of my block association,

         18  which happens to be the 300 East 77th Street Block

         19  Association in Manhattan.   I'm a member of

         20  Community Board 8 and for the past 10 years have

         21  been a member of the Community Advisory Committee of

         22  the Neighborhood Center for Homeless People.

         23  However, I am not speaking on either the Community

         24  Board's behalf or the Community Advisory Committee's

         25  behalf.  Because of my activities on the Community
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          2  Advisory Committee of the Neighborhood Center for

          3  Homeless People, I have learned a great deal about

          4  mentally ill chemical abusers and other homeless

          5  people in general.

          6                 Many homeless people, as you well

          7  know, are mentally ill, and become homeless because

          8  they have lost the ability to care for themselves or

          9  lack of any comprehension of their condition. While

         10  the ability to care for oneself seems almost innate

         11  to most of us, it is not to someone who has been in

         12  a mental institution for many years, and it is

         13  because they have been hospitalized for so long that

         14  they have learned dependency, a dependency that will

         15  take years to undo.  In many cases it cannot be

         16  undone at all.

         17                 Imagine if you were suddenly thrown

         18  out of your cocoon, given a few skills and driven to

         19  a new place to live, in a part of town where you

         20  have never been before, like a YMCA on the West

         21  Side, think how terrified you would be.  First of

         22  all, if you had any life skills, they would have

         23  been totally erased because while you were in

         24  psychiatric hospital, you have become a very

         25  dependent person.  Everything has been done for you
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          2  in an institutional setting, you were given three

          3  meals a day, your medications were given to you at

          4  set times, even your clothing was provided and

          5  laundered.  Because of this regimented environment

          6  you have become a totally dependent person.  Now,

          7  suddenly you have been abruptly ripped from this

          8  structured environment, you are on your own, what

          9  are you going to do?  You have to remember to take

         10  those meds, some of them are unpleasant.  Do you

         11  take them before or after you have eaten, with or

         12  without juice, what time do you take them, do you

         13  really have to take them at all?  After all, you're

         14  out of the hospital, you must be cured, and if you

         15  weren't cured, they wouldn't have let you out of the

         16  hospital.  But we all know differently.

         17                 Mental illness cannot be cured, only

         18  controlled, and only when the medication is taken

         19  under regular supervisions. Besides the meds they

         20  told you to take make you feel weird. Further, you

         21  have very little judgement, because you have had no

         22  social interaction, you don't have anyone telling

         23  you to stay away from the guy who is acting like a

         24  new friend and gives you stuff that makes you feel

         25  much better.
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          2                 Here is the other thing, many of the

          3  discharged mental patients are or have been drug

          4  addicts.  Drugs really do fry your brain and it

          5  becomes harder to retain any knowledge.  The

          6  inhumanity of wholesale discharge by this State,

          7  absolutely staggers me.  For the State to allow

          8  patients to walk away is callous, for patients to be

          9  sent away is worse.  Does this do anything at all

         10  for the patients except build frustration and anger?

         11                 While many of these discharge

         12  patients might not have been violent when they were

         13  discharge, the frustration, helplessness, rejection,

         14  and ultimate anger, they must endure is bound to

         15  explore sometime.  What assurances is the State

         16  giving their families, we just heard from Kevin

         17  Cerbelli's mother, what a tragic life she must lead?

         18    What assurances does the State give the

         19  communities into which these people are sometimes

         20  abruptly dropped, or the well meaning soup kitchen

         21  volunteers?  If these people had tuberculosis, the

         22  Health Department would be on them in a minute.

         23                 It was said about Kendra Webdale that

         24  she would have been the first person to help Andrew

         25  Goldstein.  Let us, in her name, institute
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          2  supervised housing for the mentally ill, right now.

          3  It is the only kind and caring thing to do.

          4                 Monitor the mentally ill for their

          5  own good, give them the proper medications,

          6  particularly the newer, supposedly more expensive

          7  kinds without the unpleasant side effects so that

          8  they will be taken.  Medicine that is easier on the

          9  patient is much more successful than any medicine

         10  that isn't.  Isn't it cheaper in the long run?  Who

         11  knows with supervised housing and decent meals many

         12  of these of people might become productive members

         13  of society, and again, we saw that earlier with

         14  those two people.

         15                 I want to thank you for the

         16  opportunity of allowing me to speak, and urge you to

         17  do supervised housing with all the speed that you

         18  can.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         21  much.  Julie Sandorf, Corporation for Supportive

         22  Housing.

         23                 MS. SANDORF:  It's still good

         24  morning.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning.
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          2                 MS. SANDORF:  My name is Julie

          3  Sandorf.  I'm the President of the Corporation for

          4  Supportive Housing.  I would first like to thank

          5  Councilwoman Una Clarke for having me here today.

          6  You have consistently shown enormous compassion and

          7  conviction in advocating for housing supports for

          8  people with mental illness.  If you wouldn't mind

          9  indulging me, before I begin my prepared statement,

         10  I have been sitting here, I guess since ten o'clock,

         11  listening to the varied testimonies, also thinking

         12  about the very disturbing events of the past two

         13  weeks, and I just want to say that it fundamentally,

         14  this whole issue, fundamentally comes down to the

         15  core values who we are in this society and the

         16  morality of what we do as a society.  I have not

         17  seen in any of my experiences, to date, an issue

         18  that points to testing us as members of society, and

         19  testing our ability to reach out and care for the

         20  most vulnerable among us.  And I'm hoping, and I

         21  think it goes beyond political allegiances, it goes

         22  beyond ideologies, it goes beyond where you should

         23  put a budget line here or there, it goes to the core

         24  of who we are as people and what we believe in, in

         25  terms of right and wrong, and I hope none of us
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          2  forget that in talking about where we should be in a

          3  line item in a budget.

          4                 This hearing was called in response

          5  to the terrible tragedy that befell Kendra Webdale

          6  on January 2nd, and what steps the Council can take

          7  to prevent such incidents in the future.  And while

          8  I'm sure that the Council understands that there are

          9  no universal panacea, there are certainly things

         10  that work.  One of the best ways to help mentally

         11  ill live independently and productively in the

         12  community is to provide them with a decent place to

         13  live linked to good support services and appropriate

         14  support services, otherwise known as supportive

         15  housing.

         16                 Why is this housing so critical?

         17  Because people need decent housing in order to

         18  rebuild and stabilize their lives, and excellent

         19  support services need to be readily accessible,

         20  always available on an as needed basis.  And because

         21  it works, as evidenced by the enormous success of

         22  the 1990 New York/New York Agreement to house

         23  mentally ill individuals.  Not only did the

         24  Agreement house more 8,600 people with serious

         25  mental illness, not only did 80 percent of this hard
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          2  to reach population managed to make homes here, but

          3  the shelter population in this City decreased, of

          4  single adults, decrease by one- third and street

          5  homelessness was far less in evidence, a win/win for

          6  us all.

          7                 On a personal level, though, you all

          8  have, no doubt, seen the every day magic of

          9  supportive housing in your own neighborhood,

         10  beautiful buildings in which tenants reside

         11  peacefully, stably, and invisibly.  But the

         12  Agreement has now lapsed, and talks between the

         13  Mayor and the Governor have stalled. The Mayor has

         14  pressed hard for a new Agreement and has pledged

         15  over $50 million towards the implementation.  The

         16  Governor, apparently, remains unconvinced.

         17                 So what in terms of the Council can

         18  do to prevent further tragedies?  You can press the

         19  Governor relentlessly and make it your highest

         20  priority to renew and expand a new, New York/New

         21  York Agreement.  Advocates would be happy to help

         22  you make the cost argument for this initiative,

         23  because the plain truth is that homelessness among

         24  mentally ill individuals is more costly than

         25  housing.  Right now 3,000 mentally ill people reside
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          2  in City shelters utilizing expenditurely more of the

          3  systems resources than less vulnerable populations.

          4  That means that they are essentially living in

          5  shelter cots, which could be providing temporary

          6  respite to 10 to 20 individuals over the course of

          7  the year.  We don't need to build new shelters in

          8  this City, we can, in fact, reduce them with an

          9  appropriate New York/New York Agreement.

         10                 Homeless mentally ill people are also

         11  having psychiatric crises twice as often as those

         12  who are housed with support services, and are

         13  staying far too long in our public hospital beds.

         14  Those beds cost between $250 and $1,000 a day.  A

         15  recent study in the New England Journal of Medicine

         16  estimated that homelessness is costing the New York

         17  Public Hospital System at least $100 million a year,

         18  and we're not getting very much of a return on that

         19  investment.

         20                 And homeless mentally ill are also

         21  staying far too long in prison cells because judges

         22  are reluctant to release them into non- stable

         23  housing, in fact, they're staying nearly 200 days

         24  longer, those days cost taxpayers $189 each.  Staff

         25  at Riker's Island treat 15,000 inmates for serious
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          2  mental illness last year.

          3                 Now is the time of the Council to

          4  take action, mobilize your constituencies to do the

          5  same, before the Governor releases his budget and

          6  before another horrible tragedy occurs.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Just before you

          9  go, one of the reasons I scheduled this hearing

         10  today was not to sensationalize the tragic incident,

         11  but was basically to figure out how, with the

         12  Administration, the Council could have a cohesive

         13  and coherent message that would go to the Governor.

         14  It is apparent to me that the Mayor feels that he

         15  can do it on his own, and so he chose not to send

         16  the Commissioner with whom I would have to work to

         17  do this today, and that is one of the reasons I

         18  refused to have the Administration have somebody

         19  other than the person who sets the policy and who

         20  understands the critical issues of mental health. To

         21  be absent and to send somebody else was not

         22  acceptable.  It was not because I was trying to be

         23  difficult or to be disrespectful, but I read

         24  something before I came this morning, and it says,

         25   "Blessed are the merciful, for they shall obtain
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          2  mercy."  And that it is because of that, that I did

          3  not want to have somebody say they may or may do

          4  this, or the Mayor will do that.  I wanted somebody

          5  who would say, here is how we may work together in

          6  order to create the atmosphere that would bring to

          7  the City of New York all of the resources it needs

          8  to support the mentally ill.

          9                 And when that did not occur, I'm a

         10  little bit angry because I have the flu, and, you

         11  know, they didn't send me who ought to come, but I

         12  haven't given up.  And I'm glad there are advocates,

         13  there are providers, and there are consumers who

         14  recognize and who have always been on the forefront

         15  of making sure that they do what they must in order

         16  to receive the services.

         17                 So I thank you for your very

         18  sensitive testimony, and certainly, - -

         19                 MS. SANDORF:  Thank you.  If I - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: - -  will make

         21  sure that we get a message to the Governor.

         22                 MS. SANDORF:  Right, please.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  The Governor

         24  will have our message almost immediately, we have

         25  been conferring backwards and forwards, and we will
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          2  fire off a letter right away and the resolution that

          3  is before us, we will schedule an immediate hearing

          4  on it.

          5                 MS. SANDORF:  Right, thank you.  If I

          6  can say one more thing, the very sad irony of this

          7  situation is that this is a win/win, whether you are

          8  a Republican or a Democrat, whether your the Mayor,

          9  the City Council, or the Governor, it's like Mom and

         10  Apple Pie, we know this works, we know it's more

         11  cost- effective, we know the health outcomes are

         12  much better.  I think what the advocates and the

         13  providers are so puzzled about, where is the down

         14  side here, and we so appreciate your willingness and

         15  anxiousness to reach out to the Governor and to the

         16  Mayor and say, we can all do this together, because

         17  for the life of us, we don't see the down side, it

         18  is only an up side for everyone, including the

         19  taxpayer.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         22  much.  Mr. Steve Coe, Jodie Silver and Emile Girard.

         23                 MR. COE:  Thank you, Councilwoman

         24  Clarke.  My name is Steve Coe, as many of you know,

         25  I am the Chair of the Campaign for New York/New York
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          2  II, but today I am going to speak about funding for

          3  outpatient services, and I am going to speak as the

          4  Executive Director of Community Access, which on

          5  July 1st of this year, I will be entering my 20th

          6  season, which I guess makes me a provider.

          7                 I would like to commend Council

          8  Member Una Clarke for organizing these hearings and

          9  for her longstanding commitment to quality services

         10  for people with psychiatric disabilities. Thank you

         11  for the invitation to participate.

         12                 Being pushed under the wheels of a

         13  speeding subway has to be every New Yorker's worst

         14  nightmare.  On January 3rd, Andrew Goldstein, a

         15  young man with a long history of mental illness,

         16  committed this horrible act, resulting in the death

         17  of Kendra Webdale, another young person with a

         18  future as bright and hopeful as Andrew's was bleak

         19  and desperate.

         20                 Once again a spotlight has been

         21  focused on the community mental health system and

         22  once again the system has been shown to be wanting.

         23  Predictable responses have been offered by some

         24  public commentators and a segment of the mental

         25  health community in reaction to Kendra's death, from
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          2  the wholesale reinstitutionalization of insane

          3  criminals to force treatment of discharged patients

          4  to ensure that they take their medication and follow

          5  other prescribed treatment regimens.

          6                 Leaving aside the notion that we

          7  would start sending people back to locked wards, I

          8  would fervently reject any proposal that forced

          9  people into treatment.  The reasons are simple.

         10                 1.  Forced treatment cannot be

         11  sustained on an ethical basis.  Sooner or later,

         12  despite the best intentions of everyone involved,

         13  one groups will come to dominate and make decisions

         14  antithetical to another, and will justify those

         15  actions with legal and social control arguments.

         16  This is what happened for decades when relatives,

         17  judges and medical professionals routinely committed

         18  people to institutions.  What is happening today was

         19  mentioned that African- Americans are twice

         20  medicated as Caucasians. Controls that are intended

         21  to safeguard patient rights soon become ineffective

         22  as medical professionals and administrators become

         23  more skillful at manipulating the system to achieve

         24  their desired ends, which, as they will always say,

         25  are in the best interests of the patient.
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          2                 2.  In the long run, forced treatment

          3  will drive more people away from help than draw them

          4  in.  If you know the power of the state is available

          5  to mental health professionals whom you contact for

          6  treatment, you will be leery of using them,

          7  especially during times of extreme distress or

          8  crisis- precisely when you want people to seek out

          9  mental health care.  Additionally, mental health

         10  professionals are not challenged to develop creative

         11  responses to difficult situations, and they come to

         12  rely on 911 as a treatment solution.

         13                 Improving outpatient services lies

         14  not in making treatment professionals agents of

         15  state social control, but in changing the way

         16  services are delivered.  As the outpatient

         17  commitment pilot project at Bellevue Hospital

         18  demonstrated, if you encourage professionals to

         19  devise services that consumers truly want, the

         20  services are welcomed and can be very effective.

         21  The results of the study were very telling, in that

         22  there was no discernable difference in treatment

         23  outcomes for people assigned to the study group and

         24  those assigned to a control group.  Neither group

         25  needed to be forced into treatment and outcomes were
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          2  positive for both lower hospitalization rates and

          3  improved functioning.

          4                 Creative services, delivered in an

          5  appropriate setting and tailored to the wishes of

          6  the client is the opposite of what occurs today.

          7  Because the vast majority of funding for mental

          8  health services is derived from billing Medicaid,

          9  providers are required to deliver the maximum number

         10  of standardized services in a centralized clinic

         11  setting.  If a potential client doesn't want that

         12  type of service, they get no service.

         13                 We can begin to change this

         14  disjointed, illogical, and wasteful system tomorrow

         15  without passing a single law, writing another

         16  regulation, or spending an extra dollar.  For the

         17  past several years, plans have been underway to

         18  convert the current fee for- service system into one

         19  built on the principles of managed care, which

         20  rewards keeping people well, not chalking up visits

         21  to a clinic.

         22                 The City Council should aggressively

         23  advocate with the State, particularly the Department

         24  of Health and the Division of Budget, for this

         25  transformation to begin as soon as possible. And
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          2  further, the Council should support the principle

          3  that the total funding for community- based mental

          4  health services remain constant until the system has

          5  been given a chance to correct itself.  If there are

          6  savings to be realized at a later date because we

          7  created a more cost- effective system, great; this

          8  will make taxpayers happy.  But before this happens,

          9  the public deserves to have a system that really

         10  works.

         11                 It is a sad testament to New York's

         12  mental health system, a system that features the

         13  highest per capita spending of any in the nation and

         14  possibly the world, that it was nobody's job to

         15  occasionally pick up the phone and call Andrew

         16  Goldstein to see how he was feeling; to buy him a

         17  cup of coffee; to take him to a movie; or visit him

         18  in his home.  We don't need treatment police. We

         19  need a system that rewards caring professionals and

         20  peers for working side- by- side with mental health

         21  consumers as respectful, supportive partners in the

         22  recovery process.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. SILVER:  Good morning.  My name

         25  is Jody Silver, Director of Advocacy at Community
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          2  Access, Board member of Adventure House.

          3                 I would like to personally thank you,

          4  Council Member Clarke, for being such a strong and

          5  powerful advocate for the mental health community,

          6  and I appreciate all the years, and time, and

          7  energy, you have spent helping us and working

          8  together with us.

          9                 I realize this hearing was put

         10  together rapidly in response to the tragic death of

         11  Kendra Webdale.  It is my understanding that a

         12  select few providers were personally invited to

         13  testify, I know it was open to the entire public,

         14  but there were select providers that were actually

         15  invited.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  No, let me

         17  correct the record.

         18                 MS. SILVER:  Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  The City Council

         20  maintains a list of witnesses that were almost

         21  always here before us, all hearings are for the

         22  public, and to the public.  When you do a hearing

         23  like this, it is very hard to identify all of those

         24  persons whom you can hear from.  You usually ask

         25  those persons that touches the broad range of
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          2  services that are there.  For instance, if I call

          3  Staten Island Mental Health, I know that they

          4  understand issues of mental health, developmental

          5  disabilities, special education because they do a

          6  broad range of service, and they may elect to come

          7  with the service provider or they may elect to come

          8  with clients whom they serve on whom we may put a

          9  face.  So we don't necessarily select a group to

         10  come, we look at those who provide services to the

         11  body of the clients that we may be addressing on

         12  that day.

         13                 That doesn't mean, like Mr.

         14  Campanelli came and came with two consumers, that

         15  anybody else we invite may not bring persons that

         16  are affected by the topic, but if I would do a

         17  hearing on Mental Health today, to provide every

         18  mental health advocate, every consumer that would

         19  like to testify and every agency that would like to

         20  testify, would be beyond what we could control in

         21  any one day of hearing, so we look for those that

         22  can make the point and help us to understand what

         23  all the issues are.

         24                 MS. SILVER:  Okay.  Well, thank you

         25  for explaining that.  And I think that one of the
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          2  problems in our mental health system is that we are

          3  conditioned to believe that professional providers

          4  know best, however, it has been consistently

          5  demonstrated that the traditional view points on

          6  what works has failed. Although providers have

          7  varying levels of expertise and perspectives,

          8  consumer/survivors often share different views on

          9  what types of approaches promote rehabilitation and

         10  recovery.  And I think there is, also, as we tend to

         11  be shifting our mental health system to a more

         12  rehabilitation/recovery based approach, there is

         13  more consumer providers now, there are more

         14  providers that are certainly changing their

         15  philosophies on how to work with people.

         16                 And I'm really excited to hear that

         17  you're going to be setting up a Task Force in which

         18  you will be inviting both providers and advocates

         19  and consumers, and I applaud that effort. And there

         20  is no doubt in my mind that good intentions are

         21  behind this effort, and in order to strengthen and

         22  change our mental health system, we must include

         23  people, you know, we ought to talk about including

         24  consumers and then there is often, you know, we do

         25  it because we think at times it is important to have
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          2  consumers there, but sometimes we have to ask

          3  ourselves, why is that so important?  And I think

          4  that people with insight who actually have been

          5  there, they can probably tell us better than

          6  anybody, just like the folks that were testifying

          7  earlier, about what has worked for them and what

          8  doesn't work for them.  And I think that we just

          9  need, our whole community, the whole system, needs

         10  to make a more special effort to reach out to those

         11  folks and recruit those people into our discussions.

         12                 The theme of today's hearing,

         13   "establishing a monitored case worker system that

         14  closely supervises the administering of medication

         15  in outpatient clinics,"  I believe is only one

         16  component of preventing future tragedies, as people

         17  have repeatedly said over and over about the New

         18  York II and affordable and decent housing.  I would

         19  like to also add, I think that the other piece that

         20  is really critical are the peer supports along with

         21  all the other clinical services.  We must develop a

         22  sense of community prior to hospital discharge,

         23  during discharge planning and obviously in the

         24  community.  The Peer Bridger Program, which you have

         25  several in your district, at, I think it is
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          2  Kingbridge and South Beach, that the Brooklyn Peer

          3  Advocacy Project runs, and I know there is one in

          4  Queens.  Those are the only boroughs that I know, at

          5  this point, that have them.  They have proven to be

          6  very successful tools in helping people adjust to

          7  community living.

          8                 Medication alone is not enough for

          9  most human beings.  Decent housing with humane

         10  supports, friends, and work are what most people

         11  need.  And many models exist that help people,

         12  including the peer run crisis respite programs,

         13  outreach workers, 24- hour peer/provider run drop-

         14  in centers, self- help groups, and evening/weekend

         15  programs.  And I know I have accumulated throughout

         16  the country a number of these different models,

         17  which I have started to share with some of the

         18  legislators up in Albany, just so that we can start

         19  to examine and look at the ones that we know are

         20  effectively working with what we consider people

         21  that are kind of hard to reach, that don't want to

         22  come out and come to services, that there are these

         23  programs that are actually running very well and

         24  serving this population.  And I would be very

         25  willing to share those models with you and send them
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          2  out to you, if you would be interested in looking at

          3  them.

          4                 Often people stop taking care of

          5  themselves when they become lonely and isolated.

          6  When people feel connected to a community which

          7  provides non- coercive supports, they begin to find

          8  a reason to go on and want to improve the quality of

          9  their lives. You know, I can't certainly speak for

         10  the Goldstein situation, but I tend to wonder if he

         11  did have a caring supportive network, you know,

         12  perhaps he would have been more willing to take care

         13  of himself.

         14                 In order to prevent further

         15  tragedies, the mental health community must work

         16  together and make room at the table for

         17  consumer/survivors, advocates, and providers.  By

         18  incorporating the various voices in our mental

         19  health community, we will be in a much stronger

         20  position to develop creative solutions to a very

         21  complex issue.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MR. GIRARD:  Good morning.  My name

         24  is Emile Girard, and I am a psychiatric survivor of

         25  an illness by the name of bipolar disorder with
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          2  psychotic features.  I would like to speak about,

          3  well, the original topic - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Would you kindly

          5  just pull the mic closer to you?

          6                 MR. GIRARD:  Pull the mic closer?

          7  Okay, sorry about that.  I would just like to speak

          8  about a few issues of the supervision of the

          9  outpatient care for the mentally ill, through what I

         10  experienced through my recovery.  I was very

         11  disappointed to hear some speeches today that

         12  labeled psychiatric patients in such groups as

         13  severely dependent.  I'm the most independent I

         14  know.  I mean, I wouldn't be here today and survived

         15  my illness without my independence.  My doctors told

         16  me after many years in hospitalizations that I

         17  should just not work and not go onto school, and

         18  basically after I heard that, I went an applied to

         19  graduate school, and successfully completed my MBA,

         20  and I am going back to my career of management

         21  consultant which I started at 18 next year.  So that

         22  would have never happened if I couldn't, you know,

         23  wash myself.  And the reason I couldn't wash myself

         24  and cook my meals was because I was strapped up to

         25  beds for eight months at a time and put in quiet
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          2  rooms where I had no food, so they had to feed me

          3  while I acted like a dog.

          4                 As I go on, medication management is

          5  a quite important issue.  Involuntary outpatient

          6  treatment has wide support from individuals because

          7  of force treatment for mandated medication.

          8  However, some of these medications can make

          9  consumers feel worse then when they are

         10  decompensated.  The answer to this problem is not to

         11  strip away their human rights in a dictorial state,

         12  but proceed with coordinated- based medication

         13  management throughout the medical community.

         14  Doctors and consumers must nurture an ongoing

         15  trusting dialogue to determine overtime which range

         16  of medications on the market best suits there

         17  system.  This has proven to be more effective on a

         18  community- based level without judicial force.  It

         19  creates trust and openness.  Most importantly,

         20  research does show that people subjected to forced

         21  treatment are at increased risks of developing drug

         22  dependency, disabling side effect from medication,

         23  and suicide.  It can also result in damage to one's

         24  self- esteem and motivation for recovery, and most

         25  importantly, retriggering problems associated with
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          2  past violence and abuse due to side effects of

          3  medications, such as many medications which are the

          4  cheapers, and which I was on in the very beginning,

          5  was Haldol.  Many people are allergic to it because

          6  it is very cheap, it makes you create a very

          7  internal restlessness and it causes you to be

          8  violent and abusive.

          9                 Alternatives to forced outpatient

         10  treatment.  The key to alternative forced outpatient

         11  treatment is to make available a wide spectrum of

         12  accessible human resources and humane recovery based

         13  services, which offer people choices and respect

         14  their dignity, such as peer- delivered support

         15  services, hospital diversion programs, good housing,

         16  training and work opportunities, and therapy by

         17  caring people who respect their clients freedom,

         18  these are proven alternatives to coercive and

         19  unresponsive programs.

         20                 Force and fear work against

         21  participating in services and against recovery.

         22  Limited mental health resources must be used to

         23  nurture hope and promote recovery and not be

         24  diverted into a system of force and fear.

         25                 When mental health services involve a
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          2  relationship, it must create trust to be truly

          3  helpful and therapeutic, as well as increase self-

          4  esteem and the individuals sense of self

          5  determination.

          6                 Resources would be better used to

          7  provide adequate, voluntary services.

          8                 Inadequate community services make it

          9  difficult to transform the system in a comprehensive

         10  way that would offer services, which people want and

         11  would better meet their needs.

         12                 Alternatives to force.  Offer

         13  adequate range of service options, which people want

         14  and would respond to their needs. Offer adequate

         15  treatment programs, which are delivered in a

         16  respectfully and humane way so that people will

         17  accept them.

         18                 Provide adequate discharge planning

         19  and follow- up in the community after

         20  hospitalization.

         21                 Provide adequate crisis prevention

         22  and crisis management services including

         23  alternatives to traditional options, such as

         24  informal drop- in centers, peer provided crisis

         25  support, as well as outreach support, 24- hour a day
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          2  respite programs and peer bridger programs to help

          3  transition people from hospitals to their homes.

          4                 For people who are homeless, provide

          5  safe, decent, adequate housing along with access to

          6  enriched services suited to their needs.

          7                 Help people develop and file advance

          8  directives to go into effect in the event of a

          9  crisis.

         10                 You mentioned earlier that you're

         11  interested in forming a Task Force and finding out

         12  by providers and different people in New York City

         13  what the cost would be to provide these services.  I

         14  don't think there is an easy answer to that.  I

         15  think in order to achieve such a goal one would have

         16  to hire a consulting firm and research associates

         17  and analysts and deal with New York State providers,

         18  coordinators, everybody in the mental health system,

         19  including consumers, and most importantly consumers

         20  of all types.  As you heard today, there are many

         21  different views of what consumers are, we're either

         22  rapists, we're either killers, we're, you know, the

         23  media, I started a PR firm when I was a consultant,

         24  the media just publicizes and is a red trigger for

         25  people to read newspapers.  Therefore, there are so
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          2  many articles written about mentally ill people

          3  doing things.  Whereas research truly shows that

          4  mentally ill people are more susceptible to violence

          5  and killings than any other people there are.

          6                 I, myself, was susceptible to

          7  violence, and I am a very non- violent person.  I

          8  have never been in a fight in my life, I have never

          9  broke, did a crime, I have never done anything like

         10  that.  So what I believe should be done is some kind

         11  of Task Force to be created with certain providers,

         12  everybody in the system, including consumers, and

         13  work with a consultancy to develop all the systems

         14  we need and all the allocations of dollars we need,

         15  and all the allocation of a population of mentally

         16  ill in the State of New York.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         19  much.  The Task Force is not going to look at cost,

         20  because human development, I don't think you can put

         21  a price tag on it.  I said to look at where there

         22  are the gaps in the services and what we need to do

         23  to better serve the population of those who are in

         24  outpatient clinics and to make sure that they

         25  receive the services that they need in a coherent
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          2  way.

          3                 MR. GIRARD:  Okay, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Thank you, Mr. Coe.  The next witness is Ms.

          6  Carvel Bethune.

          7                 MS. BETHUNE:  Good morning, Una

          8  Clarke and Council.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Good morning.

         10                 MS. BETHUNE:  As I sat there, I said,

         11  why am I here? And basically I'm here to represent

         12  the untold stories.

         13                 On December 26th, at 8:30, eight days

         14  prior to Kendra Webdale's, my three- year- old

         15  daughter was attacked by an emotionally disturbed

         16  person as we entered the diesel way station at Ocean

         17  Parkway.  I'm still shook up by this.  He was

         18  standing calmly - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Take your time,

         20  take your time.

         21                 MS. BETHUNE:  Yes.  He was standing

         22  calmly in the waiting area in view of the token

         23  booth clerk and myself.  He was relatively neat in

         24  appearance and seemed normal, I had no reason to

         25  feel threatened.  I placed my daughter in front of
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          2  me to swipe the MetroCard with both of us going

          3  through the turn stile together. Before I could

          4  complete the process of entering the station, he

          5  snatched my daughter.  He pulled her towards him in

          6  a crushing embrace, then in a deliberate move, he

          7  rotated her head towards me and slammed her forehead

          8  in the solid partition between the turn stiles.  I

          9  recovered from shock enough to make an attempt at

         10  retrieving my daughter, I was able to get hold of

         11  her leg and lower body, but he continued to pull her

         12  upper body and head.  He pulled us over to the

         13  seated area, a distance approximately of four to

         14  five feet, he forced her on the chair with his hand

         15  around her neck, choking her. He forced her, he was

         16  squeezing the life out of my child, her tongue was

         17  hanging out of her mouth.  I was hitting him as hard

         18  as I could, but he did not release her.  I worked my

         19  way under and between them and bit his hand as hard

         20  as I could.  He released her, I grabbed her and

         21  moved her to the furthest seat while trying to

         22  console her.  I pleaded for help from the token

         23  booth clerk, who at that time was on the phone, the

         24  assailant was approximately 8 feet from us, standing

         25  calmly.
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          2                 The area where we were seated was a

          3  designated waiting area, I was sure the call the

          4  token clerk was making was to the police and that

          5  they would rescue us any moment.  My daughter was

          6  attacked a second time.  Again, he got hold of her

          7  and began to choke her.  A train arrived and the

          8  departed passengers started screaming, but no one

          9  actually came to our aid.  I cannot honestly say if

         10  the screams of the people or what factor caused him

         11  to release her, but he did.

         12                 I noticed the token clerk was making

         13  a second call. The clerk seemed to be much more

         14  aware and concerned, but still refused my pleas to

         15  come to our assistance.  He simply shook his head.

         16  A significant amount of time had lapsed and the

         17  police still had not arrived on the scene.  My worst

         18  fears were realized, the assailant approached us for

         19  the third time.

         20                 This time I decided to make a run for

         21  it, with my daughter in my arms and trying to

         22  negotiate the turn stile, I was slowed down

         23  considerably.  The man was able to catch up with us

         24  on the other side of the turn stile, still in view

         25  of the token clerk. I found myself on the ground, my
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          2  daughter was also on the ground, the assailant was

          3  able to get my baby for the third time he was

          4  choking her in much the same way he has done on

          5  previous times.  I think the bulk of winter clothing

          6  must have cushioned the strangled hold on her.  The

          7  third attack was not to be like the other two,

          8  fortunately, a good samaritan stepped in.

          9                 Someone decided to ignore his

         10  personal safety for a woman and child, his name is

         11  Bershastel Bermateroff (phonetic). Mr. Bermateroff

         12  was able to pull the attacker from my child and held

         13  him at bay until the police arrived some twenty

         14  minutes after the first attack.

         15                 I later learned that the assailant is

         16  Kyid Pherin (phonetic), a 51- year- old Arab, and he

         17  is employed as a doorman at the Beverly Hotel for

         18  over ten years, he was on his way to work. In the

         19  ten years of working there, his employer told the

         20  police that he had a history of a previous assault,

         21  but he wasn't charged for it.  Mr. Pherin, at that

         22  time, was on psychotic medication, but he refused it

         23  while we were both at the Coney Island Hospital the

         24  day of the incident.

         25                 I implore you to do something about
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          2  all of this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Now your story

          4  is very moving and I am extremely, this is one of

          5  the reasons that we are really doing this hearing so

          6  that we can hear from a variety of people with a

          7  variety of experiences.  Based on what you know

          8  following this incident with your child, you have

          9  now found out that he had a history of psychiatric

         10  hospitalization?

         11                 MS. BETHUNE:  Yes, he had, he is

         12  currently under the judges rule, he has 30 days

         13  psychiatric evaluation, on judges' order.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, and he was

         15  arrested for the incident?

         16                 MS. BETHUNE:  He was arrested the day

         17  of the incident.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

         19                 MS. BETHUNE:  And we were both in

         20  Coney Island at the time receiving medical

         21  attention.  He was there because I bit him so hard.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You bit him?

         23                 MS. BETHUNE:  Yes, I bit into him, I

         24  had to have blood work and everything, and my

         25  daughter had to have medical care.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You bit him

          3  hard, huh?  We're extremely concerned about this

          4  kind of history, and we're concerned about any

          5  number of people who fall between the cracks, and

          6  this hearing is about how follow- up takes place,

          7  how we put together a system of mental health

          8  services that provides for a person like this and

          9  for others who would suddenly do violence.  And so I

         10  want you to know that your testimony is both moving

         11  and your testimony is taken into consideration.  And

         12  I thank you very much for coming forward and for

         13  relating your story to us.

         14                 MS. BETHUNE:  Thank you for having

         15  me.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:   Kate Gandall.

         17                 MS. GANDALL:  Hi, my name is Kate

         18  Gandall, and just for purposes of an identification,

         19  I Co- Chair, co- facilitate a support group for

         20  people involved with the Criminal Justice System.

         21  It's called the Criminal Justice Support Group and

         22  it's part of NAMI- NYC Metro.  And I also Co- Chair

         23  the Committee that is part of the Federation Mental

         24  Health, Mental Retardation, and Alcoholism Services,

         25  I Co- Chair the Criminal Justice Committee.  So I'm
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          2  someone in the City who actually, these are the

          3  kinds of issues that come to us and we have been

          4  trying to grapple with them, and we really

          5  appreciate, Councilwoman, your efforts on behalf of

          6  people, and also the effort that you made this

          7  morning in trying to call attention to the critical

          8  needs that need to be addressed and the lack of

          9  response that we have often faced from the

         10  Commissioner, different people in the Department, to

         11  really attend to these issues in a more serious way

         12  in recognizing the importance of them.

         13                 Anyway, I am speaking as an

         14  individual, and the reason I come to this juncture

         15  in my own life and think that this kind of work is

         16  so important is because my own brother spent almost

         17  30 years from the first time he had a psychiatric

         18  problem when he was 17, spent the next almost 30

         19  years in many, many hospitals, lived on the streets

         20  and was arrested many, many times, usually for

         21  nuisance type offenses.  From time to time was

         22  hooked up with a program that seemed promising only

         23  to be either graduated from it and then not receive

         24  adequate follow- up.  He is now one of the fortunate

         25  few that is in a fantastic program that has made a
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          2  huge difference in his life.  And so now at age 48,

          3  he is finally, for the last two years, been in a

          4  program called, Pathways to Housing, which for the

          5  first time in his life gives him consistent

          6  supportive services on a non- conditional basis.

          7  That is to say, it gives him choice.

          8                 For many years it was, in the various

          9  programs that he had experienced, his own goals or

         10  his own choices were not respected, and he was

         11  afforded the dignity that he and others like him

         12  deserve, and it is the strength of the program, like

         13  Pathways to Housing.  And I think some of the other

         14  programs, like Community Access, people who have

         15  spoken here today, are pioneering in these kind of

         16  very progressive and meaningful programs that can

         17  really make a difference in people's lives who

         18  otherwise fall through the cracks and end up in

         19  hospitals and just going through the revolving door

         20  endlessly.

         21                 The Pathways to Housing works on the

         22  Assertive Community Treatment Team model, and

         23  Michael Silverberg spoke about the PACT model and

         24  how NAMI supports that and I also do, but I have

         25  been, and very aggressively, trying to work towards
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          2  the establishment of more such teams.  However, I

          3  would like to say that all programs, whatever model

          4  they follow, if they don't, some of the other

          5  people, the psychiatric survivors that have spoken,

          6  speak about the importance of peer involvement, and

          7  I think that is critical also.  Some programs pay

          8  lip service to client driven programs and peer

          9  involvement, but I think that the ones that really

         10  do, are the ones that make a difference in these

         11  people, like my brother, who are the hardest to

         12  reach.

         13                 And for a long time he was

         14  categorized as non compliant, and that is the way I

         15  would think of him, also, for years, but it took me

         16  a long time to realize that it was not so much his

         17  non- compliance as that the treatment services that

         18  he was receiving were client resistant.  And I think

         19  the client resistant services that exist are not

         20  helpful.  And other people have spoken already that

         21  when you offer services that people want and can

         22  benefit from, they're not going to turn away from

         23  them.

         24                 The holes in the safety net can't be

         25  filled until every person and those people that are

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            111

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  the hardest to reach have access to such programs.

          3  There is such a lack of programs that all the people

          4  who come to my support group, for example, usually

          5  parents whose sons are in Riker's or in State

          6  facilities, arrested for a wide variety of crimes,

          7  most of them misdemeanors, and there are virtually

          8  no, I mean, there are never any openings in programs

          9  like Pathways, because they're always fill.

         10  Pathways was set up to help homeless people with

         11  psychiatric histories.  There is no program, we have

         12  been advocating for this for a long time, that is

         13  set up to specifically house and provide supportive

         14  services for people getting out of jail or prison.

         15  And this is very, very badly needed.

         16                 Every single parent or sibling who

         17  comes to our group could benefit from such a

         18  program, and we desperately are searching for

         19  openings in the better programs like Community

         20  Access, CACS, Pathways to Housing, Project Reach

         21  Out.  So the need is, the need we all know.  New

         22  York/New York needs to also include people getting

         23  out of jail or prison, who technically are not

         24  considered homeless, except that they have nowhere

         25  to go, except maybe if their families take them back
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          2  in, and which never works out too well.

          3                 I think you understand the jest of

          4  what I'm saying, but there are so many problems, but

          5  I would speak for Assertive Community- based

          6  Treatment to prevent future tragedies.  I would also

          7  like to say that the two tragedies happening within

          8  three months of each other, Kevin Cerbelli's killing

          9  and Kendra Webdale's killing that should not be

         10  looked at separately, and that one was an over

         11  reaction because of the fear that is built around

         12  people with psychiatric problems being dangerous,

         13  which I think is  misconstrued.  So anyway, I mean,

         14  they are both horrible tragedies and it is important

         15  that, I think, everyone who tries to finds solutions

         16  look at the complexity, the solutions are nuance

         17  solutions, they're not simple answers, and they're

         18  complex solutions to complex problems.

         19                 So, again, just to reiterate that it

         20  won't help if more community- based programs are

         21  established, but they provide client resistant

         22  services and provide services on condition that you

         23  stay on your medication or that you, whatever, you

         24  don't drink. The programs that employee principles

         25  of harm reduction and work with peers, and work on
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          2  trying to establish what the clients goals are, are

          3  the most effective.

          4                 So, that is what I would like to say.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          6  much.  We will have two people coming up side- by-

          7  side, although not related, but one will go after

          8  the other.  One is Ken Dudek from Fountain House,

          9  and the other is Mr. George from CSEA, and you may

         10  speak in whatever order you see fit.  We're winding

         11  down and so I don't want to miss any of the

         12  important testimony.  And now you pronounce your

         13  name, for the record.

         14                 MR. BONCORAGLIO:  It's George

         15  Boncoraglio.  Shall I begin?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 MR. BONCORAGLIO:  Councilwoman

         19  Clarke, let me thank you for convening this

         20  Committee and giving me the opportunity to speak

         21  about a system that is in total disarray and chaos.

         22                 My name is George Boncoraglio.  I

         23  serve as President of the Civil Service Employees

         24  Association Metropolitan Region here in New York

         25  City.  CSEA represents thousands of front- line
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          2  mental health workers in the State's six mental

          3  hospitals here.  CSEA members work in Manhattan at

          4  the Manhattan Psychiatric Center, in Staten Island

          5  at South Beach Psychiatric Center, in Queens at

          6  Creedmore, and at the Bronx Psychiatric Center.

          7  They have witnessed over the past several years how

          8  the New York State Office of Mental Health has

          9  implemented and continued deep cuts in services, in

         10  staffing and funding.

         11                 I will maintain today that this

         12  intentional abandonment of the State's long held

         13  responsibility to care for the mentally ill has

         14  resulted in numerous tragedies for patients, their

         15  families, the citizens of New York City and most

         16  recently in the horrible death of Ms. Kendra

         17  Webdale.

         18                 Just six months ago at a Public

         19  Hearing held by Assemblyman James Brennan, OMH

         20  officials were bragging that they were ahead of

         21  schedule in implementing the drastic cuts made to

         22  New York City mental health services.

         23                 At that hearing the State's failure

         24  to provide beds for acute care of psychiatric

         25  emergencies was documented in testimony presented by
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          2  concerned unions, and representatives of the New

          3  York State Psychological Association, the Greater

          4  New York Hospital Association and by the Urban

          5  Justice Center representing homeless mental

          6  patients.

          7                 Witness after witness protested the

          8  State's purposeful and lengthy delays in accepting

          9  mental patients in the front door, while rushing

         10  more patients out the back door too soon, and

         11  failing miserably in providing any desperately

         12  needed follow- up and after care.

         13                 Most certainly Kendra Webdale, as

         14  most New Yorkers, was hardly aware that more

         15  dangerous and potentially violent mental patients

         16  walk the streets of New York City now than ever

         17  before. Time slips by the headlines recede of Soon

         18  Sin, the grandmother, pushed to her death under a

         19  subway train, or Juan Gonzales, the ferry slasher

         20  who killed two and maimed nine other Staten

         21  Islanders.  After each horrific event the State

         22  simply goes back to business as usual, slashing

         23  acute care mental health services and failing to

         24  monitor or track outpatients.

         25                 Kendra Webdale must not become just

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            116

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  another forgotten victim of New York State's neglect

          3  of the mentally ill.

          4                 New York State government has proven

          5  itself incapable and unwilling to do the job where

          6  mental illness is concerned.  So we citizens must

          7  demand a Kendra's Law to establish independent,

          8  impartial, judicial monitors similar to those in the

          9  Willowbrook Consent Decree.  The horror of state

         10  neglect of the mentally retarded at Willowbrook

         11  State School ended with Court monitors having the

         12  power to order improved quality of care for the

         13  mentally retarded.  What was a travesty at

         14  Willowbrook has become a national success story.  We

         15  can afford to do not less for our mentally ill

         16  citizens and our neighborhood safety.

         17                 Enough is enough!  The appalling

         18  memory of Kendra Webdale's headless corpse now

         19  buried in Buffalo, perhaps in the very same cemetery

         20  as the Buffalo nurse also murdered by an outpatient

         21  in 1998 is buried, must haunt our hearts and minds

         22  until we force our State officials to act

         23  responsibly.

         24                 Twenty- nine point fifteen of the New

         25  York State Mental Hygiene Law already provides for
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          2   "conditional release" based on the patient's

          3  compliance with their treatment plan.  Why doesn't

          4  New York State use this conditional release, which

          5  calls for automatic recommitment if the patient is

          6  not in compliance.

          7                 While much has been made recently of

          8  the Bellevue Project, we must remember that the

          9  project specifically excluded clients with a history

         10  of criminal and/or violent behavior from enrollment.

         11    The type of patients that, especially in

         12  Manhattan, are admitted to psychiatric centers.

         13                 In 1993 OMH admitted over 7,000

         14  patients to its New York City Psychiatric Centers.

         15  The admissions dropped to 2,00 in 1997.

         16                 Why doesn't New York require direct-

         17  observed therapy where necessary and have

         18  professionals watch patients consume their

         19  prescribed psychotropic drugs, for the good of all

         20  society?  Also, directly- observed therapy for

         21  tuberculosis patients protects them from themselves

         22  and protects the public.  It works.

         23                 Why doesn't New York State have in

         24  place a mandatory system of computerized

         25  communications between the New York State Office of
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          2  Mental Health and all City and County Police

          3  Departments and Correctional Facilities?  When

          4  patients with previous violent episodes who escape,

          5  or require recommitment for non- compliances, need

          6  to located, they should not just be noted as

          7  discharge from the hospital and no longer a concern

          8  of OMH.  This very incident recently occurred in

          9  Manhattan Psychiatric Center with the escape of Mr.

         10  Rodriquez who was jailed three times after his

         11  escape, but neither the police nor the correctional

         12  system were aware of his violent psychiatric

         13  history.

         14                 No, there are no more excuses

         15  acceptable from Albany for their purposeful neglect

         16  of New York's mental patients.  There must be no

         17  more coffins and heartbroken families because of

         18  budget cuts.

         19                 It is a travesty that over the past

         20  four years the state budget provided, and this is

         21  going to irk a lot of people, provided over $150

         22  million in tax breaks to the beer industry, the race

         23  tracks, and to the sixth richest team in the NFL for

         24  Buffalo Bill's skyboxes.  How is the funding so

         25  easily found for beer, horses and football, but not
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          2  for the desperately needed mental health services?

          3                 Kendra's Law must also contain the

          4  following, irrevocable provisions:

          5                 1.  Mandate OMH to administer 29.15

          6  of the New York State Mental Hygiene Law for

          7  conditional releases.

          8                 2.  Restoration of acute care

          9  psychiatric emergency beds at State Mental Hospitals

         10  in New York City to accommodate the unconscionably

         11  long waiting lists that now exist.  Shunting this

         12  problem off onto overburdened, financially strapped

         13  private and City psychiatric units has not and does

         14  not work.

         15                 3.  Set- up of an enlarged network of

         16  State- operated and staffed mental health clinics in

         17  all five boroughs where outpatients will be provided

         18  psychotropic medications with the fewest side

         19  effects.  There, outpatients can be monitored weekly

         20  by qualified professionals able to assess any

         21  deterioration in their condition and the efficacy of

         22  there medications protocol.  Failure to make

         23  appointments could result in recommitment of

         24  recalcitrant patients.  Set- up mandatory

         25  communications between mental institutions,
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          2  monitoring clinics, police and corrections

          3  departments for tracking patients, particularly

          4  those with known violent or criminally behavior in

          5  their medical history.

          6                 4.  The State must provide supervised

          7  housing with professional follow- up and end the

          8  present practice of releasing patients with known

          9  violent or criminally behaviors to YMCA's or lonely

         10  basement rooms where no one checks to see whether

         11  they are taking their medicine.

         12                 Now that an enlightened legislators

         13  seek to protect communities from sexual predators

         14  and violent felons through Megan's Laws and Jenna's

         15  Laws, our community deserves nothing less than a

         16  Kendra's Law to keep that percentage of the violent

         17  mentally ill population who relapse, from hurting

         18  themselves or taking the innocent lives of others.

         19                 Sadly, some patients will require

         20  very long in hospital treatment.  The recent attempt

         21  by the Pataki Administration to close Kingsborough

         22  Psychiatric Center completely and the present plan

         23  to slash services at Manhattan Psychiatric Center

         24  are hurtful to New York City.  They are a clear

         25  dereliction of responsibility and nothing to brag
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          2  about.

          3                 The January 8, 1999 New York Times

          4  Editorial said that Kendra Webdale's senseless death

          5  could be given meaning if it spurs the State to

          6  accept a broader responsibility for the care of the

          7  mentally ill.  Think of the lives that could have

          8  been saved had the State only met its responsibility

          9  all along.

         10                 Under the present shortchanging of

         11  mental health services by managed care and HMO's the

         12  State of New York must be forced by statute to do

         13  its duty.  Kendra's Law will do just this.

         14                 It was reported in the newspapers

         15  that while Mr. Andrew Goldstein awaited the arrival

         16  of police on the subway platform, he apparently said

         17  it must have been Ms. Webdale's turn to die.

         18                 No, today all New Yorkers must say,

         19  no.  This is the shame and disgrace upon New York

         20  State and it's Governor George Elmer Pataki's turn

         21  to restore the funding our City needs to assure care

         22  for the mentally ill and protect innocent citizens

         23  from attacks and senseless murders.

         24                 I thank you for holding this

         25  important hearing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:   Let me thank

          3  you, especially for coming and to remind you that

          4  although you are concerned with State and State

          5  facilities that we're talking about New York City

          6  residents.

          7                 MR. BONCORAGLIO:  Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And there are

          9  times that I do joint hearings with Assembly Member

         10  Brennan, not only because we share the same district

         11  borders, but because we're assigned to the same

         12  Committee, and it gives me an insight as to what he

         13  is doing, and gives him an insight to what we're

         14  doing.  If you know what government agencies are

         15  doing apart from the voluntary agencies, we can do a

         16  better coordinated work, and I think that sometimes

         17  we need the help to take the blame that we do not

         18  network as much so that we create the kind of

         19  network that is needed.

         20                 I thank you very much for your

         21  testimony, and you will certainly hear from me.

         22                 MR. BONCORAGLIO:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. DUDEK:  I turned it off instead

         24  of on.  My name is Ken Dudek.  I'm the Executive

         25  Director of Fountain House here in Manhattan in New
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          2  York City.  Rather than reading my testimony,

          3  because I have a feeling you have all been sitting

          4  here for quite sometime, having people read

          5  testimony to you.  I have given my testimony up

          6  there.

          7                 I basically have two thoughts to add

          8  to this discussion, I think.  One is that as the

          9  Executive Director of an agency that works with

         10  1,200 people, I think, there but for the grace of

         11  God go I, in terms of the people involved in this

         12  tragedy. It could have easily involved the staff or

         13  the members of Fountain House in some fashion,

         14  because I think there is an element in this of

         15  tragedy that can happen to anyone.

         16                 I think, the other piece though, I

         17  have a suggestion I support your concept of

         18  monitored case worker system.  But I would like to

         19  offer a kind of suggestion from my experience in the

         20  National Community Support Program, which is part of

         21  the National Institute of Mental Health, it was a

         22  previous career of mine.  I believe that, I need to

         23  read this one piece here, the emphasis and

         24  priorities within the New York City mental health

         25  community need to shift to a more active outreach
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          2  and support approach within an Integrated Service

          3  Program.  These programs should operate in

          4  conjunction with a team of community psychiatrists

          5  who are knowledgeable about medical case management

          6  and the new atypical medications.

          7                 This calls for a shift in the way

          8  many services are currently provided in New York

          9  City at this time.  The comprehensiveness of the

         10  support needs to be offered at the program level and

         11  not on a systems level basis because people with

         12  mental illness need one place to go, they need one-

         13  stop shopping, and not fragmented services.  The two

         14  most widely disseminated national models of

         15  Integrated Service Programs are the PACT Program,

         16  which you have heard about, the Program for

         17  Assertive Community Treatment, and a comprehensive

         18  club house model, which is based on Fountain House

         19  here in New York City.

         20                 To give you an example of how I think

         21  this would work is, you know, supporting a person to

         22  maintain their connection with their psychiatrist so

         23  that they continue to receive their medication, it's

         24  impossible for any single physician or case manager

         25  to ensure this process occurs on a consistent basis
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          2  without the support of an integrated service program

          3  with multiple people working on the same process.

          4                 That is my simple contribution to

          5  this discussion. I think that the way to kind of

          6  begin to get to where you would like to get around

          7  the case worker management is to look at some of

          8  these research models.  We heard a lot of stories

          9  and antidotes today, and I find myself like you,

         10  kind of in the middle on a lot of these issues, and

         11  it is a difficult position to be in.  And I think

         12  that there really is some research on this, there

         13  are some national models that have been going for 10

         14  and 20 years, and they're not in New York City.

         15  Even the club house models that have been designed

         16  by the City of New York are still only a part of

         17  what they could possibly be in terms of offering,

         18  especially the outreach services and the other

         19  linkage services that I think they could do.  I also

         20  support the idea of these Assertive Community

         21  Treatment Programs in New York City as well.  I

         22  think combinations of those programs in the

         23  community, unlike the previous speaker, I support

         24  the idea of good in- patient services, that is

         25  always an important thing, but I do believe that
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          2  you, since 90 percent of the people with major

          3  mental illness are already in the community, we need

          4  to devise ways of supporting those people

          5  effectively in the communities.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          8  much.  As you know I visited Fountain House.

          9                 MR. DUDEK:  Yes, Ma'am.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And I recognized

         11  the work that you do, and want to say to you as we

         12  try to look for a way in which to come up with a

         13  cohesive plan that we will draw on people who have

         14  many types of experience in order for us to draw and

         15  get the greatest strengths of all together in order

         16  to make a difference, and I am committed to that.

         17  And so if we call on you, I hope that you will

         18  answer positively, because of the kind of work that

         19  you have done and the history of the work that you

         20  have done?

         21                 MR. DUDEK:  How could we ever refuse?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         23  much.  Michael Gerrard.

         24                 MR. GERRARD:  I was going to say good

         25  morning, but now I have to say, good afternoon.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Now I have to

          3  start thanking everybody for remaining and staying.

          4                 MR. GERRARD:  Council Member Clarke

          5  and other distinguished Council members, thank you

          6  for the opportunity to place this statement on the

          7  record on behalf of Steinway Child and Family

          8  Services, Inc.  My name is Michael Gerrard and I am

          9  Director of programs.  Mary D. Redd is President and

         10  CEO of the organization.  Steinway Child and Family

         11  Services, Inc., is a community- based agency that

         12  offers a continuum of human services. Our motto is

         13  human services with a human touch.  Steinway's goal

         14  is to help each client reach their full potential as

         15  a satisfied, productive individual no matter what

         16  their difficulties or circumstances.

         17                 A culturally sensitive and

         18  professionally trained staff help people from all

         19  walks of life, treating each person with respect and

         20  dignity.  To ensure the delivery of quality services

         21  that are appropriate to clients' needs, staff work

         22  closely with the community and the clients in

         23  developing programs that meet their needs.  Steinway

         24  also collaborates with other community- based

         25  agencies to assure that services are efficient,
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          2  cost- effective and offered without unnecessary

          3  barriers.  Our multi- faceted role, as a part of the

          4  community, involves sharing our knowledge and

          5  expertise with other agencies, working cooperatively

          6  with them on issues that are related to the total

          7  health of the client.

          8                 Outpatient Mental Health Services are

          9  a critical component of the mental health continuum.

         10    These services maintain clients in the community

         11  with regard to the least restrictive environment.

         12  Community- based outpatient care has become critical

         13  as we move toward deinstitutionalization.  For it is

         14  these programs that offer the support structure and

         15  stability to these clients that allow them to follow

         16  their treatment regime.  Despite this critical need

         17  the majority of programs have large waiting lists

         18  and are historically under funded.  Greater priority

         19  must be given to those programs which serve as

         20  alternatives to hospitalization.

         21                 There is a tremendous need for

         22  increased funding and support of public education

         23  and anti- stigma campaigns for greater awareness and

         24  understanding of emotional disturbance.  Yes, there

         25  is a small percentage of those who are a threat to
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          2  public safety but the tendency is to generalize

          3  negative characteristics to client populations who

          4  are attempting to deal with their disabilities.  All

          5  human beings within context and circumstances have a

          6  capacity for psychological disturbance, impulsive or

          7  destructive behavior.  We know that it is virtually

          8  impossible to predict human behavior regardless of

          9  whether a person is mentally disabled or not.  What

         10  we can do is decrease the probability of violence by

         11  supporting a strong, well coordinated outpatient

         12  system.

         13                 Some ways of accomplishing this

         14  include the development and implementation of inter

         15  and intra agency collaboration and tracking of

         16  clients that includes well funded and result

         17  oriented aftercare.  Further solutions would include

         18  cross systems sensitivity and client access to

         19  ongoing appropriate medication, hot lines, crisis

         20  and emergency care, club houses, home- based crisis

         21  services, supported housing and a strong case

         22  management component.

         23                 In closing, outpatient mental health

         24  services provides the most viable and largest

         25  portion of services to clients.  On balance these
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          2  services are necessary, professionally delivered and

          3  effective.  They are, however, often not available,

          4  over- crowded and under funded.  Please let us join

          5  to use this as an opportunity to reinforce and

          6  expand our outpatient support system so that all of

          7  us are better served and protected.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         10  much.  David Lehmann.  I thought I knew that face.

         11                 MR. LEHMAN:  You do.  I'm David

         12  Lehmann, and I'm Executive Director of Venture

         13  House, which is a club house program that serves all

         14  of Queens, and you visited us there.  However, I

         15  want to speak on behalf of myself.

         16                 I was listening to some of the

         17  testimony, I didn't come with prepared testimony, so

         18  pardon me if I'm a little disorganized.  However,

         19  several of the people that just left, are people

         20  that I would have like to have hear this, because

         21  one thing that I know is that coerced treatment

         22  doesn't work.  Doctors make mistakes all of the

         23  time, I don't mean every time, but frequently, and

         24  the effects of those decisions and of their opinions

         25  and attitudes often can affect and ruin someone's
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          2  life because of the absolute authority which they

          3  speak.  The psychiatric community have made many,

          4  many mistakes, decade after decade after decade with

          5  regard to what is proper treatment, what causes

          6  different types of mental illness, whether or not it

          7  was an illness, and have been proven dramatically

          8  wrong in many of those decisions.

          9                 I think it is a very important thing

         10  that psychiatrists, in particular, but most

         11  clinicians also, be given training to understand not

         12  only what the medical aspect of the decisions that

         13  they're making are, but also to learn better how to

         14  work with people that they're seeing as opposed to

         15  doing to the people that they see.  The things that

         16  I'm going to go into right now are things I don't

         17  usually speak about, so I'm a little uncomfortable

         18  with it, but bear with me again.

         19                 I have been in the mental health

         20  system in one way or another for 39 years.  I was

         21  told that I would never be able to work.  It took me

         22  18 years to get my undergraduate degree.  I went to

         23  six different colleges, I was put on Stelazine when

         24  I was 19 years- old.  I was never given any

         25  information about what the side effects would be.
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          2  They were very, very severe, and as I was really

          3  very unsure of myself at the time before I started

          4  taking the medication and in great distress, I

          5  believed that the side effects from the medication

          6  were just my getting worse, and as a result I tried

          7  to commit suicide, because I believed if this was

          8  what my life was going to be, even with medication

          9  that there was no reason to live with it.  I had

         10  never been told that there were going to be any side

         11  effects, and this was in the sixties when there

         12  wasn't a whole lot of information about this, and

         13  also people were misprescribing these new

         14  medications frequently.

         15                 After quitting school, I think for

         16  the fourth time, when I was 21 I went to see a

         17  psychiatrist who I hadn't seen for a year, but who I

         18  had a seven year history with and I asked whether or

         19  not he would give me a letter to the Draft Board

         20  when I was called for the draft, and he folded his

         21  arms and looked at me and said, let me think, would

         22  the Army be good for you, and this was part of his

         23  treatment plan for me as to whether or not I should

         24  go into the service during Vietnam.  He was not

         25  somebody I went to just to get a deferment.  This

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            133

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  was somebody I had been seeing since I was 14-

          3  years- old.  I think that speaks to some of the

          4  concerns that consumers have with regard to being in

          5  treatment.

          6                 The other thing is that the first

          7  seven years that I was with this person, I was a

          8  minor, and the treatment that I was getting was not

          9  voluntary.  I was taken and I was forced to see this

         10  person, I was terrified of him, I disliked him, and

         11  often would just sit and say a word week after week.

         12                 I had quit school and went to work in

         13  spite of the predictions.  I got my initial

         14  confidence at a family run business where I had

         15  first worked in the basement doing stock work and

         16  then was slowly kind of eased on, would you watch

         17  the floor, you know, there were a lot of customers,

         18  there was a lot of people, it was a retail store,

         19  and eventually I ended up very much like a

         20  transitional employment placement that club house

         21  programs provide, being able to become more sure of

         22  myself.

         23                 I quit school again when I was 21, I

         24  started out as a file clerk on Wall Street, after

         25  there I started as a clerk and became a Vice
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          2  President and an Investment Advisor at a major bank

          3  in New York City.  After 13 years of doing this, I

          4  realized what I really wanted to do and I quit, went

          5  back to school full time, got my Master's Degree in

          6  probably 18 months, and started working at Fountain

          7  House.  Two and one- half years later I was asked to

          8  start an agency in Queens, which was Venture House.

          9  We have been there 11 years providing a lot of

         10  services.

         11                 I think as a result of some of the

         12  experiences that I have had, the idea of forcing

         13  treatment on anyone is an abomination.  I would like

         14  to work on your Task Force, I think I would bring

         15  lots of different aspects to this.

         16                 And I guess that is really all I have

         17  to say.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me thank you

         19  for your testimony, and let you know that whenever

         20  anyone volunteers to work with me, it's like

         21  volunteering to be in the Army.

         22                 MR. LEHMANN:  Not again.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You don't ever

         24  not show up.  So I thank you very much for the

         25  offer.
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          2                 MR. LEHMANN:  And thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Constance

          4  Lesold, Cassandra Mele, is that it?

          5                 MS. LESOLD:  Cassandra had to leave.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, and then

          7  Hernando.

          8                 MS. LESOLD:  I'm sorry Cassandra had

          9  to leave, she has a small child and the baby sitting

         10  time had run out.  She should have let you know

         11  earlier, and I'm sure that could have been adjusted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes.

         13                 MS. LESOLD:  I don't want to repeat

         14  in my informal testimony, which I feel obligated to

         15  give because of a life- long  -              CHAIRPERSON

         16  CLARKE:  You need to identify yourself for the

         17  record over there.

         18                 MS. LESOLD:  Oh, I'm sorry.  My name

         19  is Constance Lesold, and I am testifying as an

         20  individual here today, although I am involved in

         21  this field in many ways, I am a Psychiatric Social

         22  Worker with an MSW from Smith College and many years

         23  of experience.

         24                 At this point I am semi- retired and

         25  working with a mental hygiene court monitoring
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          2  project in Brooklyn, but I am not testifying on

          3  their behalf today.  As I say, I'm not going to

          4  repeat what you have already heard, I think you have

          5  had very valuable testimony from many of the

          6  advocates and agencies too, for that matter.  I

          7  certainly do, particularly, feel that forced

          8  treatment is not the way.  We have adequate criminal

          9  justice system for prosecuting people who commit

         10  violent crimes, and if we use that system we will

         11  protect the civil rights of all the rest of us. That

         12  sounds hard- hearted and cruel, I know many people

         13  have said that, but I am very concerned about the

         14  civil rights of everybody, and the right to

         15  treatment is not the only right that exists for

         16  people in our society.

         17                 The particular thing though I do not

         18  think has been addressed at all, and I don't know

         19  why, to tell you the truth is the issue of racism.

         20  Our City and Country and State are very much

         21  effected by racism in every single way, and in the

         22  delivery of services, it's not left out.  I'm going

         23  to give two examples that I think are apropos for

         24  your consideration, one of them comes out of my

         25  neighborhood and crossed paths with my work with the
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          2  mental hygiene project.

          3                 A friend of mine contacted me through

          4  her lawyer several months ago because she was in

          5  Kingsborough Hospital.  I said what is she doing in

          6  Kingsborough Hospital, as it turned out she had been

          7  arrested at Metrotech for arguing with her dry

          8  cleaner, close to the closing hour.  In my opinion

          9  from what I heard, this was an over reaction in a

         10  case which should have gone to Small Claims Court.

         11  When there is a difference of opinion of whether the

         12  clothes are cleaned or not, or whether one should

         13  have to pay, Small Claims Court, in my experience,

         14  is where people have gone.  I have even seen such

         15  cases, instead she was arrested, at this Metrotech

         16  place, taken through the precinct, discussions went

         17  on as what to do with her, she was taken to Long

         18  Island Hospital, knocked out completely, according

         19  to her testimony, given all kinds of tests, no drugs

         20  were found.  This is a very religious person. She

         21  was transferred to Riker's Island and from there to

         22  Elmhurst Hospital and from there to Kingsborough.

         23  Of course, as she was someone personally known to me

         24  I went to visit her, and what I saw there, frankly,

         25  was shocking.
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          2                 On the ward that she was on, this was

          3  a women's ward, all the treatment personnel were

          4  men, except for some of the nurses, but those in

          5  charge were men.  In fact, this had gone to such an

          6  extreme that I was told that a woman social worker

          7  was being sent on the ward and she was to add a

          8  little balance to this situation.

          9                 The clients, except for my friend,

         10  were heavily medicated, all of them, and she was

         11  refusing medication and was being medicated

         12  forcefully, although this is against the law unless

         13  a person is a threat to themselves or others,

         14  particularly to others in that kind of situation.

         15                 I, in learning about the

         16  circumstances of this, was very, very alarmed.  Here

         17  is somebody who just argued with her dry cleaner and

         18  she has ended up in long- term care.  You know, what

         19  is going on here?  So I invited my Community Board

         20  #8 in Brooklyn to attend the court hearings on her

         21  behalf and to take this up through their Health

         22  Committee to find out why this black woman was in

         23  this situation.  And, fortunately, the Committee did

         24  attend the hearings and she was released.

         25                 This was not a simple thing because
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          2  she did have a history of some psychiatric treatment

          3  in the past.  This was a woman who was a nurse, and

          4  she had worked in the past.  The immediate reaction

          5  of the hospital when she was released was initially

          6  to appeal.   When I went to the head of the hospital

          7  and complained about this and stated that I thought

          8  some consideration should be given to why she was in

          9  the hospital, he said to me, we can't concern

         10  ourselves with why the patients are here, we have

         11  them, we have to do something with them.  And I

         12  said, I'm sorry, Doctor, but we don't feel that way

         13  in the community, we really feel that we should

         14  know, and we're really concerned when somebody ends

         15  up in your hospital for arguing with her dry

         16  cleaner.  The hospital did not appeal, she signed no

         17  papers and left there.

         18                 And the reaction to this woman, who

         19  had always gone to doctors, I had known her and she

         20  had come to visit me when she was in the process of

         21  going to doctors, was to refer her to their

         22  outpatient clinic who immediately began to call her

         23  and to ask her was she going to the doctor, or what,

         24  or so forth, you know, I do think that people should

         25  be able to choose their own doctors.  I think this
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          2  is basic, all of us have had experience of going to

          3  a dentist or a doctor or somebody we didn't like and

          4  we found another one.  But the outpatient clinic

          5  continued to pursue this.

          6                 The last action taken on this is that

          7  I got so worried because this was going round and

          8  round and round, and I won't even go into what

          9  happened to her belongings at the precinct at which

         10  she has not yet recovered.  I got so worried that

         11  they would come out and try to send one of these

         12  treatment teams and carry her back to the hospital

         13  because she was not going to their choice of

         14  treatment.  I did refer her to the Center for Law

         15  and Social Justice at Medgar Evers, and sure enough,

         16  and took her to the doctor myself trying to make

         17  sure that there would be absolutely no grounds, sure

         18  enough the treatment van showed up the next day at

         19  her house, when do you think, I was very shocked,

         20  they showed up at night.  What is this, what is

         21  this, the new Gestapo, I mean, you know, I'm very

         22  sensitive to things like this.  My husband was a

         23  refugee from Nazi Germany, I married into a family

         24  of survivors.

         25                 Since when do people go at night?
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          2  Now she was very fortunate, she was able to say to

          3  the doctors who came, you know, it's very hard for

          4  me when you send these vans into a central Brooklyn

          5  neighborhood, the neighbors talk, it stigmatizes.

          6  She has a brother who has had a lot of problems,

          7  anxiety, no harm to anybody in this family, but the

          8  psychiatrist had come to see him and medicate him,

          9  and perhaps over medicate him and he has benefitted

         10  by this by getting a stroke and being even more home

         11  bound.  She has a sister on medication who goes out

         12  to work every day, every person in that family has

         13  reacted differently to psychiatric treatment.

         14                 I give this in some detail because I

         15  believe this woman ended up in this situation

         16  because she was black, now I could be wrong, but I

         17  have not found Metrotech to be a friendly place for

         18  minorities.  In fact, the oldest black church in

         19  Brooklyn, which is there and turned into a student

         20  center has not one word outside of it to identify

         21  what it was.  I could give you other examples of

         22  things that I have observed in Downtown Brooklyn,

         23  but I'm not.  I will give you briefly another

         24  example where a friend of mine, because you get to

         25  know more about friends.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like you

          3  to, not only wrap up, but because this hearing is

          4  focusing on where there are gaps in services, how we

          5  can better do what we're doing, and how to identify

          6  and to make sure that we serve those who need the

          7  service.

          8                 MS. LESOLD:  Well, I think we can

          9  better identify what we're doing and what is right

         10  and wrong if we face the problems of racism in it.

         11  I'm also a member of the Coalition Against the

         12  Violence Initiative, which is looking into the

         13  research of black and Latin children at New York

         14  State Psychiatric Institute that has been going on,

         15  dangerous drugs like Flenfloramine (phonetic) having

         16  been given to those children, and no real answer

         17  being given as to why this is happening.

         18                 You know, I could give you more

         19  examples, but I think unless we face - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I do hearings on

         21  those specifically, so when I call a hearing on

         22  diversity and who provides those services is

         23  probably the more appropriate time for you to do

         24  that.

         25                 MS. LESOLD:  Well, I think that the
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          2  services that are being delivered to my community as

          3  exemplified by what I saw in that case have very,

          4  very serious flaws.  The idea that psychiatrists are

          5  providing these great services and are the only

          6  ones, I'm really horrified by the testimony about

          7  social workers, is really quite incredible and

          8  opposed to the research.

          9                 I will just give you one example so

         10  you will know where I'm coming from.  The inpatient

         11  services at Kings County Hospital, some people don't

         12  have a chance to get to the outpatient stage, they

         13  die.  We recently had a person who was complaining

         14  about internal pains there, the doctor said it was a

         15  delusion, she stayed in the inpatient part too long,

         16  when she said to the medical part, she died.  The

         17  Commissioner on quality care has the case.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me interrupt

         19  again, last week at this time we had a hearing on

         20  Kings County Hospital in particular.

         21                 MS. LESOLD:  I know I was intending

         22  to come but I could not.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And all of what

         24  its strengths and weaknesses were and what we need

         25  to do there.  This hearing was not about central
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          2  Brooklyn or Brooklyn in particular, it is about the

          3  City of New York on mental health and how to

          4  provide, especially because we have emptied out if

          5  you want to say another word.  Most of the

          6  psychiatric hospitals, without providing proper

          7  support and services in the communities where people

          8  who are psychiatrically needy can receive care in a

          9  manner that they can access it themselves without,

         10  as many say forced to, but will feel that it is a

         11  friendly environment and that they can go - -

         12                 MS. LESOLD:  Well, what I'm trying to

         13  demonstrate is that people do not feel that now, and

         14  there is concern in Harlem, and there is concern in

         15  Bed- Sty, that there is more forced treatment going

         16  on there, that people are staying in the hospitals

         17  longer, as one person did testify to here, and I

         18  don't think we can leave this part out.

         19                 I am very glad the hospitals have

         20  been emptied out, that was related to the civil

         21  rights movement, by the way.  I lived through that

         22  very much in the sixties.  I was asked to empty out

         23  a back ward from Kingsborough.  I am familiar with

         24  that and it was done because of the treatments that

         25  were going on there, not just to save money, but to
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          2  cover up the scandals of the lobotomies of the

          3  people who had been done in already by drugs.  And

          4  these new drugs that you have identified here, some

          5  of the people have identified so casually, we did

          6  not know the long- term effects of those new drugs.

          7  If somebody prefers to take an old drug just because

          8  they feel they know the effects more, there might be

          9  some consideration given to allowing them to do

         10  that.

         11                 Right now what I'm most concerned

         12  about is the return to a completely forced treatment

         13  outpatient system, which places people in what is

         14  really small hospitals.  Supportive housing can be a

         15  small hospital with more forced treatment than you

         16  have in a big one.

         17                 So I thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, Sir, you

         19  may go ahead.

         20                 MR. TABARES:  Good afternoon, Council

         21  members and Council Member Clarke, and I want to

         22  thank you for allowing me this opportunity to speak

         23  today.  I don't have a prepared statement.  My name

         24  is Maneat (phonetic) Tabares and I am the Director

         25  of MICA Services at Post Graduate Center Residential
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          2  Division.  I came here today, I don't have a

          3  prepared statement, I came here today because I ran

          4  into Councilwoman Clarke at a meeting a couple of

          5  days ago, and she said this was the way to get

          6  involved, and I had a couple of observations that I

          7  wanted to share with the Council members and also

          8  take the opportunity to provide them with sort of

          9  what kind of work that we're doing.  And that is

         10  sort of an integrated model, and I feel, but I want

         11  to address what is happening today, and that has to

         12  do with, you know, the publicity surrounding Mr.

         13  Goldstein.

         14                 And one of my observations over the

         15  past few months, as Director of MICA Services, I

         16  attend the monthly, what they call a MICA Consortium

         17  Meeting.  This meeting accepts referrals from the

         18  area hospitals of New York City, HHC, and clients

         19  are referred and there referrals are brought to this

         20  meeting.  The meeting consists of providers,

         21  community residence providers, hospitals, and Fags

         22  ICM Unit, which provides ICM services.  The

         23  referrals that are brought here are consumers who

         24  have long histories of chronic mental illness and

         25  substance abuse, they have to have both of those
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          2  diagnoses to qualify for this referral.

          3                 I have been associated with this

          4  meeting for the past three years.  Up until August,

          5  I can say to you that about 80 percent of the

          6  referrals that we were getting from the hospitals

          7  were able to receive the New York/New York Letter of

          8  Agreement for Level II housing.  Since August, I

          9  noticed that that approval rate has gone down to

         10  about 30 percent.  And I think what is happening is

         11  that more people are being discharged into SROs,

         12  shelters, unsupervised settings, and this is part of

         13  the problem of what is happening now.

         14                 Isn't it ironic that as the weather

         15  gets colder it seems like there is more homeless

         16  people?  I'm a commuter, I take the train maybe

         17  three, four times a day, because I work out of

         18  different facilities.  I have noticed this increase

         19  in population, I have noticed it on the streets, and

         20  I think that has a direct bearing of the discharge

         21  policies of the hospitals.  So unless, the

         22  population that I deal with, I'm talking about

         23  people the preceding year that have been in the

         24  hospital on an average of over one year, some of

         25  them up to 18 years, some of them that have spent
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          2  maybe, 12, 15 years, 8 years in the system, there

          3  are no beds in the community.  I should say, unless

          4  they get that New York/New York Letter of Approval

          5  it's hard to place them in the community beds

          6  because of the funding sources.

          7                 So, for instance, we have 104 beds in

          8  our residences, 21 of which are slotted for the MICA

          9  population.  All those 21 beds are New York/New York

         10  beds, so I can accept a referral for a community

         11  bed, if per chance one of the community beds that is

         12  allotted to the rest of the population is available.

         13  So, fine, I can put somebody in there.  But if I

         14  don't get that referral with that New York/New York

         15  approval, chances are that I can't do that.  So this

         16  is just happening in that MICA Consortium Committee

         17  in Manhattan, that MICA Consortium Committee that

         18  I'm telling you about.

         19                 I have spoken out on this issue with

         20  different people, I have asked people at OMH, and,

         21  you know, the reaction I'm getting, the feedback I'm

         22  getting is that the City is tightening up on its

         23  regulations and approving the New York/New York I,

         24  and that the policy is directed toward filling the

         25  shelters first and then they can get their homeless
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          2  designation.  So, you know, sometimes our biggest

          3  enemy is the system itself, and I don't know who

          4  made this policy decision because I get feedback

          5  from the hospitals, they have to go through a lot of

          6  lobbying and arm twisting and follow- up just trying

          7  to get somebody designations, somebody that is

          8  obviously homeless, somebody that has been homeless

          9  for years and are having difficulty getting this New

         10  York/New York Letter of Agreement.  And I don't

         11  know, this, like I said, I don't have the facts in

         12  front of me, this happened starting in August and it

         13  continues to this day, and I fell that this is one

         14  of the reasons why so many people are, you're seeing

         15  more people out in the street not getting services,

         16  and I wanted to make that point.

         17                 And the other point I wanted to make

         18  was some of the comments that were made here and

         19  that was on peer specialists.  We always had a

         20  relationship with Howard Harps Peer Specialists

         21  Program and we have two peer specialists that work

         22  in our unit as interns, and often after there

         23  completion of the internship we hire them on staff,

         24  whether in full- time positions, part- time

         25  positions. And it has been a good association, has
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          2  been very successful, and it works.  And I have been

          3  an advocate for consumer jobs for the past couple of

          4  years because of the experience that I have had with

          5  that.  And I just wanted to add that to it.

          6                 And the program model of my program

          7  is an integrated model, and I strongly believe in

          8  that because we have chronically ill population that

          9  really has achieved a number of goals.  They have

         10  to, we involve them in their treatment, that is a

         11  necessity, I have heard a few statements here today

         12  about forced treatment and client resistant

         13  policies, and I'm certainly in agreement with that.

         14  You do have to motivate people, treatment models are

         15  supposed to have people be part of the decision-

         16  making process and that is just as it should be.

         17                 So I want to tie up my remarks by

         18  saying thank you, and I thank you for letting me

         19  make that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you so

         21  very much.  Under the regular rules, if there is

         22  anyone else left in the room who wishes to testify

         23  that they may do so now?

         24                 MR. TABARES:  Can I just add one

         25  thing?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, you may.

          3                 MR. TABARES:  Yes, I was hoping that

          4  Mr. DiBrienza was here, because I was going to ask

          5  him if he knew anything about that since he oversees

          6  the HRA, I understand?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, he does.

          8                 MR. TABARES:  How about the New

          9  York/New York policy?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  You need to, you

         11  can just drop him a note and he will, but the New

         12  York/New York Agreement comes through our Committee

         13  before it goes through HRA anyway.

         14                 MR. TABARES:  Well, if you weren't

         15  aware of what has been happening, I just wanted to

         16  make you Council members aware of what is happening

         17  the last six months.  I mean it has been completely

         18  turned around from an 80 percent approval rate to

         19  maybe a 70 percent disapproval rate for the same

         20  people, and it's a shame.  These people have no

         21  place to go, there is not enough community beds, and

         22  they're being discharged to unsupervised hotels,

         23  SROs, and shelters.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 MS. FIELDS:  Hi, I'm Joan, Fields.

          4  I'm the Clinical Director for the Project of the

          5  Psychiatric Outreach to the Homeless.  I don't have

          6  anything prepared, I came to try to catch you on the

          7  side, I did come early enough.

          8                 After listening to the testimony

          9  today, I'm not sure if I'm in the middle, I have

         10  worked on an outreach team, I have worked in

         11  supportive housing, I have worked on a Forensic Unit

         12  at Bellevue, I have a wide variety of experiences,

         13  and I think sometimes people should be coerced into

         14  taking medication.  I think sometimes, you know,

         15  there is a whole spectrum of mental illness, and so

         16  you can't treat, you know the whole spectrum has to

         17  be addressed.

         18                 But basically what I wanted to tell

         19  you is that the program I'm involved in now, we

         20  place psychiatrists on- site in agencies whose

         21  current population is either currently or formerly

         22  homeless.  We have, I do have a list for you, we

         23  have psychiatrists in soup kitchens, we have them in

         24  drop- in centers, in supported SROs, and initially

         25  the program was for volunteer psychiatrists. It's
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          2  more and more difficult to get volunteer

          3  psychiatrists and we have eventually gone into the

          4  idea of training psychiatrists. We're at, I will

          5  name the programs, Columbia Hospital, Columbian

          6  Presbyterian, Harlem Hospital, Mount Sinai, Cornell,

          7  Beth Israel, Saint Vincent's, I left one out, but

          8  the most important is Kings County, we just started

          9  a pilot program with them in July, where we get

         10  their entire PGY 3 Class, and send them into the

         11  community for three hours a week.  Right now there

         12  are nine psychiatrists.  There is a teenage runaway

         13  center at 1986 Fulton Street, there is Saint

         14  Joseph's Residence on Dean Street, there is Our Lady

         15  of Good Counsel, it's an SRO, on Madison Street

         16  where the new Mullenberg, and what is important is

         17  this giving psychiatrists education.

         18                 What I find through talking with the

         19  residents, they really don't know about anything,

         20  you know, I heard this man talking about New

         21  York/New York Agreement and how difficult it is for

         22  people to get the New York/New York applications.

         23  And the psychiatric residents have no idea about the

         24  spectrum of homelessness.

         25                 And so I know it's a long day, so I'm
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          2  not going to say anymore, except to give you my

          3  packet and to say that - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  No, it's all

          5  right, you can make your recommendations, it's a

          6  long day, but I am bound by to hear all of the

          7  recommendations and do want to hear all the

          8  recommendations.

          9                 MS. FIELDS:  Well, the recommendation

         10  really is to find monies to provide more public

         11  psychiatry education for psychiatrists, because most

         12  of the hospitals when they train psychiatrists they

         13  do focus on medication, they do focus on the disease

         14  process, you know, they do provide a very good

         15  education, but the whole spectrum of community

         16  psychiatry is left out, and unless somebody is

         17  specifically interested in what happens to people

         18  once they leave the hospital, they don't find out

         19  You know, Columbia has a very good public psychiatry

         20  fellowship program, but residents, per se, when we

         21  ask them, do you know, have you ever seen a shelter,

         22  have you ever seen New York/New York Housing?  By in

         23  large they say no, and it is very exciting to be

         24  able to show psychiatrists what is available in the

         25  community and also to get them into one of the SROs
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          2  to work there for six months to a year, so they can

          3  see what someone's life looks like when they're not

          4  in the hospital, when they're not in the outpatient,

          5  because you know people, you know, sometimes people

          6  are very ill and they need aggressive treatment, and

          7  sometimes they're not very ill and they just need

          8  supportive care.

          9                 And so I think what is left out all

         10  of the talks is that people don't talk about that

         11  people have different needs at different times of

         12  their lives.  And so, I think, it is very difficult

         13  to see how to fill in the gaps because, you know,

         14  sometimes somebody needs something very immediate,

         15  and sometimes they can coast for a while with

         16  supports.  So, basically, I wanted to tell you that

         17  we exist, that we like to get more involved in

         18  Brooklyn, and I'm going to leave you our packet with

         19  the hopes that we can come talk to you in your

         20  office.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MS. FIELDS:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Mary Keneally.

         25  Would you kindly identify yourself for the record?
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          2                 MS. KENEALLY:  My name is Mary

          3  Keneally, and I am sometimes with the New York City

          4  Recipients Coalition, which is at Howard Harp Center

          5  in Manhattan.  I want to challenge much of what is

          6  established, both psychiatrists and about the

          7  medical model about that medicine is the best thing

          8  to take.

          9                 There are a lot of psychiatrists that

         10  don't act according to the law, in order to force

         11  medicines on persons and to keep them incarcerated.

         12  They're not right, they break the law.            How

         13  about Medical Model?  Medical Model has been in

         14  dispute for a long time, I don't know if you're

         15  aware about that. The medical model is that mental

         16  illness is a biological and organic disease, it is

         17  genetic, a chemical unbalanced, that you need

         18  psychotropic medicine to overcome.

         19                 If a person who has been on

         20  psychotropic medicine by the experts, goes off their

         21  medicine the image is that there will be a disaster.

         22    The medicine gets the person in control of their

         23  facilities, but it only relieves symptoms.  A person

         24  is not cured, they have to keep taking the medicine

         25  on a targeted psychiatric system.  It is not the way
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          2  to go to tell people to take the medicine and give

          3  programs or counseling that really do not try to get

          4  the person to have their feet on the ground or to

          5  really try to cure them, that was what was done to

          6  Andrew Goldstein and to Kevin Cerbelli and to a lot

          7  of other people.

          8                 There are adverse effects to the

          9  medicines, which you are probably aware of, but

         10  which you probably are not aware about how bad they

         11  are.  The adverse effects to the neuroleptics can be

         12  numerous and extreme, Haldol is a neuroleptic.  A

         13  few of these effects are shuffling legs and not

         14  being able to walk at all, mumbling or not being

         15  able to talk, high blood pressure or low blood

         16  pressure, neuroleptic malignant syndrome, which is

         17  potentially fatal, tardive dyskinesia.  Have you

         18  heard of tardive dyskinesia?  And even agitation

         19  where sometimes the person is told they have and

         20  need to take the Haldol to correct, but Haldol can

         21  actually cause agitation.  I mean, they don't act

         22  properly.

         23                 In MRI Scans it is shown that the

         24  neuroleptics, as Haldol, can destroy brain cells, as

         25  happens in a lobotomy.  Also, mainstream medical
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          2  literature documents a surprisingly, pervasive

          3  pattern of failure of the much high neuroleptic

          4  drugs that is in challenging the therapeutic state,

          5  and its by David Cohen, Part II. Other medicines,

          6  such as Prozac, have adverse effects.  I didn't have

          7  time, I probably will write you that one when I send

          8  you the letter, I will type up the letter.

          9                 The psychiatric drug industry has

         10  heavily supported NAMI, N- A- M- I, NAMI and also

         11  support American Psychiatric Association

         12  Conventions.  That is pretty relevant that the drug

         13  industry supports these places and has the power

         14  that it does.  In the Physicians Drug Reference,

         15  that is the PDR, it specifically states the need for

         16  continued treatment of Haldol should be reassessed

         17  periodically, and they don't do that.  I mean, they

         18  say they do it, they sort of, like they do it, but

         19  they don't actually reassess and take a person off

         20  medicine.

         21                 Like there are three women in this

         22  adult home, I mean, I didn't give you my adult home

         23  address, I gave you my home address, and one of them

         24  has just recently, and that they have complained

         25  about, well, they have objected to the medicine,
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          2  like one of them was that it wasn't that she was

          3  taking it, she was sort of slipping not taking it,

          4  and that they were telling her to take your

          5  medicine, and I think that she sort of lowered her

          6  dosage, because two of the women were very drugged

          7  up, this woman and another woman were very drugged

          8  up, and now they're better.  And the other woman the

          9  psychiatrist said that he had lowered her dosage,

         10  and I think that both women and the third woman that

         11  they could go off medicine, especially if the

         12  psychiatrist did things the way he should do it.  At

         13  adult homes, they just have the people on the

         14  medicine and they just give them a little bit of

         15  counseling and they sort of really don't make sure

         16  if the person can go off the medicine.  And as I

         17  said, did I say that, I think I said that, yes, I

         18  did, that it causes the side effects, and I think

         19  that even when a person isn't drugged up, there are

         20  people there that they seem to be getting along all

         21  right, but I think, well, if a person is getting

         22  along on the medicine that, you know, you don't just

         23  go off the medicine to go off the medicine, but I

         24  think that a person that is on a little bit of

         25  medicine even, that they can get along, that it does
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          2  have an effect upon them.

          3                 And there are people there that they

          4  have tremors in their hands, or they don't walk

          5  right, and I wasn't walking right for a long time,

          6  and I'm off the medicine now, but I'm really not

          7  back to being healthy as I should be, it takes an

          8  awful long time after you have been really having

          9  the medicine to really get back to the way you

         10  should be.  I mean the medicine is out of your

         11  system, but that doesn't really count.

         12                 Anyhow, the neuroleptics, Haldol,

         13  disrupts the dopamine level in the brain, and that

         14  is how it does its work, and it disrupts your brain

         15  and it's like Parkinson's Disease a bit, and it

         16  really knocks you out of whack, and maybe you are a

         17  little bit better, but you're not really completely

         18  better for a long time.

         19                 Okay, the need for Haldol and the

         20  neuroleptics, and any drug, any medicine should be,

         21  naturally, it should be reassessed periodically,

         22  that is the normal thing you do with medicines, to

         23  reassess them.  And there certainly are people who

         24  are told to be are medicines, but they could tell

         25  what was good for themselves and went off the
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          2  medicine, who were supposed to be on medicine but

          3  who could tell what was good for themselves and went

          4  off the medicine and they were fine.

          5                 I want to take a little piece from

          6  here, have you seen the Empowerment Newsletter, the

          7  Mental Health Empowerment Project, are you familiar

          8  with the Mental Health Empowerment Project?  Well,

          9  this is a little bit of a messed up, it got wet and

         10  it's dirty a little bit.  One thing is in here - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  If you will give

         12  it to the Sergeant over there, then we can get a

         13  copy of it.

         14                 MS. KENEALLY:  Okay, okay, but this

         15  thing, anyhow, there is a number of really important

         16  things about, this is against the outpatient

         17  commitment of the Bellevue Project, Bellevue Pilot

         18  Project, but it seems to pertain to just taking

         19  medicine, I mean, it can be applied to just taking

         20  medicine.  And this is an Editorial from the

         21  Psychiatric News, August 21st, 1998, Oppler, page

         22  five, and Oppler said that although he favors

         23  coercive means of getting people into the hospital

         24  when there is danger to self or others, there is

         25  glaring needs to do this in better ways than there
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          2  is now the norm to preserve the patient's dignity.

          3  Okay, but he adds that there is compelling evidence

          4  that not to treat, for example, a person experience

          5  an acute schizophrenic episode is likely to worsen

          6  prognosis for that person.  What you're saying is

          7  that somebody with a serious mental illness really

          8  has the right to be involuntarily treated with the

          9  best CDL treatment for him or her to recover,

         10  Michaels' commented, but Michaels, Robert Michaels,

         11  M.D., the Wasman (phonetic) University Professor of

         12  Psychiatry and University President of Psychiatry at

         13  Cornell Medical College, reminded Oppler that at the

         14  New York State Psychiatric Institute, where Oppler

         15  now has an office, the same rationale had been used

         16  to justify studies for performing lobotomy.  In

         17  other words, their was a time that they thought that

         18  lobotomy was the way to go, and now that maybe

         19  medicine isn't the way to go.

         20                 And people should have the right to

         21  choose themselves, that people sort of have a

         22  feeling about what is good for them and what is not

         23  good for them, and to consult with other people if

         24  they feel that they might go over the deep end.  But

         25  when it was done it was seen by professional leaders
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          2  to be the best treatment available for schizophrenic

          3  patients who didn't have the judgement to consent to

          4  it.  The rationale was that, therefore, at times it

          5  might have to embarked in part for their good

          6  involuntarily, that is exactly the argument you just

          7  used isn't it?

          8                 Okay, this is a very worthwhile

          9  little newsletter.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 MS. KENEALLY:  I'm not finished.

         13  There are certain statements that really have a

         14  bearing on getting your feet on the ground about

         15  mental health.  I said about that you reassess the

         16  medicine, and they are supposed to reassess the

         17  medicine, if a person wants counseling, give them

         18  counseling and the person has the right to refuse

         19  medicine.  Let's see, it has been discussed in

         20  Albany that force is the failure of the system,

         21  coercion is not therapeutic, it is used as a single

         22  that needs are not being met. The statistics are

         23  that those labeled mentally ill are less funded than

         24  the general population.  It is certainly a good

         25  thing for people to help other people, but as I'm
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          2  saying, especially in the State Mental Institutions,

          3  that they don't really, that they do what they feel

          4  like, and maybe some people are helped, but they

          5  don't really aim and aren't as good as they should

          6  be.  They're looked upon as the experts and nobody

          7  touches them, they're left alone, and, you know,

          8  people should really, they shouldn't be left to

          9  themselves.

         10                 What is indicated by mental health?

         11  It is something that a person has to want, a person

         12  has to want their mental health.  That maybe it's a

         13  matter of opinion, whether you want to cash in a

         14  winning lottery ticket, maybe it is a matter of

         15  opinion whether you want a fur coat, maybe it's a

         16  matter of opinion whether you want an Olympic size

         17  swimming pool in your back yard, but mental health

         18  is something that it is real mental health, that is

         19  what it is, a person has to want their mental

         20  health, and maybe for some people it is just a lot

         21  of force and coercion and control, and that isn't

         22  the way to go.

         23                 This is a report of the Bellevue, do

         24  you have the Bellevue report from the Policy

         25  Research Associates?  Did you get that?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, I do, yes,

          3  I have it.

          4                 MS. KENEALLY:  Good.  On page 15, it

          5  is in the report that referrals were affected by

          6  concern about patients' rights and reluctance to

          7  use, legal coercion.  Some psychiatrists were

          8  perceived by the coordinating team at Bellevue to be

          9  opposed coercing outpatient treatment, and there is

         10  this matter of not having a person, that they are

         11  outpatient and that they have to take the medicine

         12  whether it is good or not for them. It is felt that

         13  the right thing, if it is felt that recipients'

         14  legal rights are protected and if the right thing is

         15  happening, that isn't true. Psychiatrists,

         16  especially those connected with the mental

         17  institutions are able to be corrupt, are corrupt.

         18  It is indisputable that mental health law is not on

         19  par with criminal law.  They have a lot of power and

         20  control, and the MHLS lawyers, mental hygiene and

         21  legal service lawyers aren't good.  I mean, you can

         22  see PRAs Report on the Bellevue Pilot Project, it

         23  said, it's not on the par with the criminal system.

         24  Even among the general population there are people

         25  who don't like going to court and fighting to have
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          2  their rights respected.  And that there isn't, the

          3  system, as it should be for people in mental

          4  institutions to get there rights respected, that

          5  they don't stand up or that the lawyers don't stand

          6  up as the patient wants them to stand up.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Can you

          8  summarize?

          9                 MS. KENEALLY:  Okay, I will summarize

         10  the rest of what I have to say.  Are you going to

         11  read what I said?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  What is that?

         13                 MS. KENEALLY:  Are you going to read

         14  what I said?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, we will

         16  read what you said.

         17                 MS. KENEALLY:  Thank you.  Okay, now

         18  what I said before is medical models in dispute and

         19  that Andrew Goldstein was told to take the medicine,

         20  and the medicine had adverse effects. And that there

         21  are some people, they feel, and one person that

         22  talked said whether there should be any insanity

         23  defense, but anyhow, that he went to programs, but

         24  he didn't get really good programs.

         25                 And about Kevin Cerbelli, his mother
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          2  said, it isn't the best thing to go by a news

          3  report, but I would think that they are fairly

          4  accurate, that he was still delusional, but he was

          5  released, and that he wasn't really treated right.

          6  Well, he wound up dying, which, I mean, is horrible.

          7

          8                 And there is what happened to Steven

          9  Smith.  Do you remember about Steven Smith and the

         10  death of Catherine Hernez in Bellevue, a number of

         11  years ago?  Okay, I will summarize, I will just take

         12  care of that one, that one with the two other ones.

         13  Where did I put it?  Gee, I don't have it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We generally

         15  have a lot of those historical perspectives, and

         16  what I'm looking for you to do is to summarize

         17  whatever recommendations you have.

         18                 MS. KENEALLY:  Well, I'm recommending

         19  that you do not compel people, that you do not have

         20  a system where you compel people, especially where

         21  you compel them to take medicine.  I mean, they had

         22  me, that I would be good for nothing, I had to lie

         23  down all the time, and they said that I was a

         24  danger, that I had assaulted behavior, and I never

         25  had assaulted behavior, they didn't have it down,
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          2  and it's not down on the daily record, on the chart

          3  in Creedmore.  And I'm not assaultive at all, and at

          4  the adult home they waited for me to decompensate.

          5  I finally got off the medicine and I had to go cold

          6  turkey, I should have gotten off gradually, but I

          7  went cold turkey, and that they were waiting for me

          8  there to decompensate to have assaultive behavior.

          9  There is this thing that the psychiatrists are so

         10  believing and everything else like that.

         11                 Okay, I will summarize.  The medical

         12  models are in dispute and there are adverse effects.

         13    And, oh, yeah, Neuroscience and what works, all

         14  right, I will just summarize for you a little bit.

         15  In the papers that I sent you, I will go into detail

         16  more. There is the Dedendron, that is a newspaper

         17  for ex- mental patients, and they had this article,

         18   "Brain Wars," and just summarizing, Neuroscience

         19  have long established that our physical environment

         20  and physical social life are so powerful that they

         21  directly effect the brain's actual physical

         22  structure.  By raising rats in an enriched

         23  environments, the cerebral cortex is thicker.  Not

         24  surprisingly, rats maintaining natural outdoor

         25  environments show even greater brain effects than
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          2  those in the enriched situation, that is in

          3  Behavioral Neuroscience, Connor and McGore,

          4  Macadamia Academic Press.  And biopsychiatric facts

          5  have a one- way model, they admit that environment

          6  can trigger so- called mental illness, but

          7  environmental support is powerless to reverse this

          8  and be the primary agent for healing.

          9                 And this is about the brain, the

         10  heart, and intangibles, and that you get rest, and

         11  that the right thing is done.  That freedom and

         12  choice and support and nutrition, and even respect

         13  spirituality can make a difference.  And in this

         14  newsletter- -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Excuse me.

         16                 MS. KENEALLY: - -  from Mr. Knight,

         17  Dr. Knight.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Excuse me,

         19  excuse me, you will be sending us the stuff in

         20  writing so if you will just limit that and send us

         21  in writing all of your recommendations.

         22                 MS. KENEALLY:  But he says it isn't

         23  being done, they don't act properly, they just get

         24  away with it.  That self-help, I think that people

         25  probably talked about self-help, employment, and
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          2  choice in housing work, and he discusses that, and

          3  he gives documentation.  And it was about Earl

          4  Black, too.

          5                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS:  Excuse me, they

          6  got the message.

          7                 MS. KENEALLY:  Okay, okay, okay.

          8                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS:  Put it in writing

          9  and send it to them.

         10                 MS. KENEALLY:  Okay.

         11                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS:  And they will be

         12  more than glad to go through it.  Okay?

         13                 MS. KENEALLY:  Okay.

         14                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS:  Thank you very

         15  much, you did very well.  Thank you.

         16                 MS. KENEALLY:  Yes, yes.

         17                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS:  Thank you, okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me thank you

         19  very much for your testimony and for everyone who

         20  has appeared today.

         21                 And please know that we don't have

         22  the answers, and that is one of the reasons we

         23  brought you here today, so that together we can come

         24  up with the proper recommendations.

         25                 And I thank everyone for attending
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          2  today's hearing, even in this very bad weather

          3  outside.  And since there are no more witnesses, we

          4  stand adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:03 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 15th day of January 1999.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12
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         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH
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